E-ISSN e-ISSN 2149-9934 Volume: 16 Issue: 2 June 2025





Journal of Emergency Medicine

Case Reports

1. Case Report: Fournier Gangrene in a Diabetic Patient Using Dapagliflozin

Ceren Adali, Beyza Torun, Omer Zuhtu Yondem, Alper Bilal Ozkardes, Ayce Celiker

- 2. Recurrence of Germ Cell Testicular Tumor Presenting with Choriocarcinoma Syndrome and Acute Pancreatitis Handan Özen Olcay, Emine Emektar, Yunsur Çevik
- 3. A Case of Salmonella Bacteremia in a New Diagnosed HIV-Positive Adult Patient

Nisanur Aygün, Müge Özgüler

4. Retained Foreign Body not Detected by Imaging Methods

Mustafa Çifçi, Muhammet Gökhan Turtay, Naim Hikmet Kalkan, Furkan Tayiz

5. A Rare Complication due to Methanol Poisoning: MINOCA

Erdem Aksay, Ahmet Burak Urfalioglu, Ayca Balta, Ali Isa Aslan, Yeliz Simsek, Hayri Cinar, Akkan Avci

- 6. Acute Maras Powder Intoxication-Case Report Boran Polat, Hatice Seyma Akça
- 7. Single Dose Metformin-Induced Severe Metabolic Acidosis

Kemal Şener, İnan Beydilli, Tamer Çolak, Adem Çakır, Giray Altunok, Raşit Baysal, Ertuğrul Altuğ

- 8. Hair-Thread Tourniquet Syndrome: A Case Report Furkan Tayiz, Muhammet Gökhan Turtay, Mustafa Çifçi, Emirhan Ünlü
- Bilateral Occipital Condyle Fracture with Clivus Fracture: Case Report Birol Özkal
- 10. An Unexpected Result of Increased Cosmetic Anxiety: Botulinum Toxin Side Effect

Gözde Yılmaz Dursun, Haticenur Karakartal, Rukiye Aytekin Akdağ, Necmi Baykan, Ömer Salt



Owner and Responsible Manager

Başar Cander Bezmialem Vakif University, Department of Emergency Medicine İstanbul, Turkey

Editors in Chief Doç. Dr. Muhammed EKMEKYAPAR

Editorial Board

Doç. Dr. Levent ŞAHİN Dr. Öğr. Üyesi Ayça ÇALBAY Dr. Öğr. Üyesi Barış KABAN

Printing and Graphics Department



Seyrantepe Mah. İbrahim Karaoğlanoğlu Cd. İspar İş Merkezi, D: No: 105 D:124, 34418 Kâğıthane/İstanbul Telefon: 0553 199 95 59 info@puntodizgi.com www.puntoajans.com

Contents

1.	Case Report: Fournier Gangrene in a Diabetic Patient Using Dapagliflozin
2.	Recurrence of Germ Cell Testicular Tumor Presenting with Choriocarcinoma Syndrome and Acute Pancreatitis
3.	A Case of Salmonella Bacteremia in a New Diagnosed HIV-Positive Adult Patient
4.	Retained Foreign Body not Detected by Imaging Methods
5.	A Rare Complication due to Methanol Poisoning: MINOCA
6.	Acute Maras Powder Intoxication-Case Report
7.	Single Dose Metformin-Induced Severe Metabolic Acidosis
8.	Hair-Thread Tourniquet Syndrome: A Case Report
9.	Bilateral Occipital Condyle Fracture with Clivus Fracture: Case Report
10	. An Unexpected Result of Increased Cosmetic Anxiety: Botulinum Toxin Side Effect

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

Case Report: Fournier Gangrene in a Diabetic Patient Using Dapagliflozin

Ceren Adali¹, D Beyza Torun¹, O Omer Zuhtu Yondem², Alper Bilal Ozkardes³, Ayce Celiker¹ ¹Lokman Hekim University Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Clinical Pharmacy, Ankara, Türkiye ²Lokman Hekim University Ankara Hospital, Surgical Medical Sciences, Anesthesia and Reanimation, Ankara, Türkiye ³Lokman Hekim University Ankara Hospital, Surgical Medical Sciences, General Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

Abstract

Fournier gangrene is a rare but severe necrotizing infection of the perineal region, requiring immediate medical attention. Sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 (SGLT-2) inhibitors, while effective in managing diabetes and providing cardiovascular benefits, have been linked to rare but serious adverse effects. In 2018, regulatory warnings highlighted a potential connection between these drugs and Fournier gangrene, though reported cases remain scarce. This report details the case of a 59-year-old diabetic female who developed Fournier gangrene during dapagliflozin treatment. The patient presented with extensive perineal necrosis necessitating urgent surgical debridement and initiation of broad-spectrum antibiotics. Microbiological analysis identified Escherichia coli as causative pathogen. Intensive wound management and insulin adjustments led to significant clinical improvement, and the patient was discharged after 24 days. The possible link between SGLT-2 inhibitors and Fournier gangrene remains under investigation. While glucosuria induced by these medications may heighten the risk of infections, the presence of comorbidities such as diabetes and immunosuppression are likely contributing factors. This case emphasizes the complexity of determining causality. Clinicians prescribing SGLT-2 inhibitors should be vigilant for signs of rare infections like Fournier gangrene, especially in patients with multiple risk factors. Prompt diagnosis and aggressive treatment are critical for patient recovery.

Keywords: Case report, dapagliflozin, fournier gangrene, sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors

Introduction

Sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 (SGLT-2) inhibitors, including dapagliflozin, have emerged as a cornerstone in the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), offering a range of benefits that extend beyond glycemic control. These agents act by inhibiting the sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 proteins located in the proximal renal tubules, which are responsible for the reabsorption of filtered glucose back into the bloodstream. By blocking this pathway, SGLT-2 inhibitors enhance the urinary excretion of glucose, resulting in reduced plasma glucose levels (1). This multifaceted action not only lowers blood glucose levels but also contributes to significant cardiorenal protection, making SGLT2i valuable in treating both diabetic and non-diabetic patients (2, 3)

Despite their benefits, SGLT-2 inhibitors are not without risks. Rare but serious adverse effects have been reported, including euglycemic diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA), urinary tract infections, and necrotizing fasciitis of the perineum, known as Fournier's gangrene (FG) (4). FG is a rare but life-threatening form of necrotizing fasciitis that affects the external genitalia and perineal region. It is most commonly associated with diabetes mellitus, immunosuppressive conditions, and poor hygiene, all of which may predispose individuals to severe soft tissue infections (1, 5).

The link between SGLT-2 inhibitors and FG was first noted in post-marketing surveillance and case reports, prompting regulatory bodies to issue warnings about this potential association. Although the absolute risk is low, the condition's severity necessitates prompt recognition and management. This case report presents the clinical course of a 59-year-old diabetic patient who developed Fournier's gangrene while on dapagliflozin therapy. The report aims to explore the potential contributory role of SGLT-2 inhibitors in the pathogenesis of FG and to discuss clinical outcomes, emphasizing the importance of vigilance in patients receiving these medications.

Case Report

A 59-year-old female with a history of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), hypertension (HT), chronic kidney disease (CKD), and coronary artery disease (CAD) presented to the emergency department with complaints of discharge and swelling near the perianal area, painful pubic swelling, and chills. One week prior, the patient had undergone drainage of a perianal abscess,

Corresponding Author: Ceren Adali e-mail: ceren.adali@lokmanhekim.edu.tr Received: 15.01.2025 • Revision: 05.02.2025 • Accepted: 25.02.2025 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1620485 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey -Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Adali C, Torun B, Yondem OZ, Ozkardes AB, Celiker A. Case Report: Fournier Gangrene in a Diabetic Patient Using Dapagliflozin. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2025;16(2): 48-52 followed by the formation of a pubic abscess in the hairbearing region. The patient attempted self-drainage, which led to worsening symptoms, including fever and chills. Her past history was significant for obesity (BMI 36 kg/m²). There is no history of smoking in the patient's medical background.

The patient was using the following medications for diabetes at home: insulin aspart (22 units twice daily), insulin glargine (40 units once daily), linagliptin (5 mg once daily), and dapagliflozin (10 mg once daily).

On examination, the patient appeared critically ill with signs of septic shock, including tachycardia and hypotension. Physical examination revealed a large, fluctuant, necrotic abscess extending from the perineum to the mons pubis and gluteal region, consistent with Fournier gangrene.

The patient's HbA1c was 7.73%, with an estimated average glucose of 175.15 mg/dL, indicating suboptimal glucose control. Laboratory Risk Indicator for Necrotizing Fasciitis (LRINEC) score was calculated to assess the risk of necrotizing soft tissue infection (6). Based on laboratory values presented in Table-1, including CRP (320 mg/dL), WBC (35.49 x10⁹/L), hemoglobin (7.5 g/dL), sodium (129 mmol/L), creatinine (5.14 mg/dL), and glucose (175.15 mg/dL), the patient's LRINEC score was determined to be 12, placing the patient in the high-risk category, indicating a probability of necrotizing fasciitis greater than 75%.

Upon admission, the patient was started on intravenous antibiotics, including imipenem-cilastatin (500 mg/500 mg twice daily) and teicoplanin (600 mg loading dose followed by 600 mg every 72 hours), based on infectious disease consultation. Emergent surgical debridement was performed under spinal anesthesia. The surgical site was prepared with sterile drapes and a sterile urinary catheter was inserted. A large abscess was identified from the mons pubis, extending into the gluteal region, including a fistula between the gluteal and perineal regions, as shown in Figure-1.

Wound cultures obtained during surgery revealed growth of *Escherichia coli*, which was sensitive to several antibiotics, including imipenem-cilastatin, piperacillintazobactam, imipenem, amikacin and ciprofloxacin.

After debridement, vacuum-assisted closure (VAC) therapy was applied to the wound. The patient required intensive care management, including total parenteral nutrition (TPN) and insulin therapy adjustments.

Table 1: Laboratory test of first day of admission

Labs	Value	Reference
Hemoglobin A1c	7.73 %	4.8-5.9 %
Urea	129.1 mg/dL	15-45 mg/dL
Blood urea nitrogen	60.33 mg/dL	7-21 mg/dL
Creatinine	5.14 mg/dL	0.5-0.9 mg/dL
E - Glomerular filtration rate	8,57	
White blood count	35.49 x 10 ⁹ /L	4,49-12,68 x 10 ⁹ /L
Neutrophils	33.86 x 10 ⁹ /L	2.1-8.89 x 10 ⁹ /L
Procalcitonin	2.43 ng/mL	0-0.5 ng/mL
C-reactive protein	320.46 mg/dL	0-5 mg/dL
Alanine Aminotransferase	12.9 U/L	0-33 U/L
Aspartate Aminotransferase	18.7 U/L	8-43 U/L

In the following days, the patient's condition improved, with a decline in CRP (from 320 mg/dL to 37 mg/dL) and WBC (from 35.49 to 15.49 x109/L). On the 28th of October, wound cultures showed no growth. The patient was discharged on day 24 with a serum creatinin level of 3.68 mg/dL, CRP of 6 mg/dL and WBC of 7.26 x109/L.

Discussion

Fournier gangrene is a severe, rapidly progressing infection that often results in significant morbidity and mortality if not diagnosed and treated promptly. The treatment of Fournier gangrene involves a combination of surgical and medical approaches, each playing a critical role in halting the progression of the disease and supporting recovery. The primary treatment involves the surgical removal of all necrotic and infected tissue. Early and aggressive debridement is vital to prevent the infection from spreading further into healthy tissues. In addition to surgery, medical management is a cornerstone of Fournier gangrene treatment. Broad-spectrum intravenous antibiotics are used to target the polymicrobial nature of the infection, which typically involves both aerobic and anaerobic bacteria. Supportive care is equally important and includes stabilizing the patient through fluid resuscitation, managing sepsis, and controlling any underlying conditions such as diabetes or immunosuppression (1, 7, 8).



Figure 1. Preoperative image showing the abscess and surrounding tissues, intraoperative image during surgical debridement and postoperative image demonstrating partial closure of the wound

The use of SGLT-2 inhibitors, such as dapagliflozin, has been associated with an increased risk of genitourinary infections, including Fournier gangrene, due to glucosuria, which may predispose patients to infections. While no direct causal relationship between dapagliflozin and Fournier gangrene can be established, the potential association warrants further investigation.

In comparison to other reported cases of FG, as shown in Table-2, our patient falls within a typical age range. In our case, the patient is 59 years old, while in the literature, most patients with FG tend to be in the 50-70 age range (2, 4, 5, 9, 10). However, there are instances of FG occurring in both younger and older populations, indicating that while age is a factor, it is not the sole determinant for the development of this life-threatening condition (1, 7, 8, 11).

Regarding gender, our patient is female, but the majority of FG cases in the literature involve male patients. In our case, this gender difference aligns with the literature, where men are predominantly affected, likely due to anatomical and hormonal differences that may predispose them to more frequent infections in the genital and perineal regions (1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 11). However, FG in females, although less common, is still recognized, particularly in the presence of comorbid conditions such as diabetes and obesity (8, 9, 10).

Our patient's chronic conditions—DM, HT, CKD, and CAD—are seen in a significant portion of FG cases. In fact, diabetes is one of the most common comorbidities in patients with FG, which is reflected in our case. Several other case reports highlight diabetes as a key risk factor for FG, as poor glycemic control impairs immune function and promotes infection (2, 5, 7, 9).

On admission, our patient's lab results included a significantly elevated white blood cell (WBC) count and C-reactive protein (CRP), which are typical markers of infection and inflammation. The patient's HbA1c was 7.73%, which indicates suboptimal control of her diabetes. In comparison, other FG patients in the literature often present with high WBC counts and CRP levels, and many have suboptimal or poorly controlled diabetes, similar to our case (5, 7, 8, 10, 11). However, the serum creatinine levels in our patient (5.14 mg/ dL) were notably higher than those reported in many other studies, reflecting the severity of her chronic kidney disease, which complicates her treatment and recovery.

In terms of management, our patient received broadspectrum intravenous antibiotics, including imipenemcilastatin and teicoplanin, which is consistent with the literature. Antibiotic therapy for FG is typically guided by culture results, as polymicrobial infections are common. In our patient, *Escherichia coli* was identified as the causative organism, which was sensitive to a range of antibiotics, including imipenem-cilastatin, amikacin, and ciprofloxacin. However, in cases in the literature *Streptococcus* species were more prevalent (5, 8, 10, 11).

Surgical management, including urgent debridement, is critical in FG, and our patient underwent emergent debridement followed by VAC therapy. The use of VAC therapy is increasingly common in FG cases as it promotes wound healing and reduces infection.

The patient's clinical course following surgery was favorable, with a decline in CRP and WBC counts, and she was discharged after 24 days with significant improvement in her kidney function and resolution of the infection.

In conclusion, our case of Fournier's gangrene highlights several similarities and differences compared to those described in the literature. Like other reported cases, our patient's age, comorbidities, and clinical presentation are consistent with the typical risk factors and symptoms of FG. Early diagnosis, aggressive surgical debridement, and appropriate antibiotic therapy remain the cornerstones of successful management, as demonstrated in our patient and supported by the existing literature.

Conclusion

This case underscores the potential risks associated with the use of SGLT-2 inhibitors, particularly dapagliflozin, in patients with diabetes mellitus. Although these medications offer significant benefits in terms of glycemic control and cardiovascular protection, clinicians must be vigilant in monitoring for rare but serious side effects, including Fournier gangrene. Early detection, appropriate surgical intervention, and antibiotic therapy are crucial for improving outcomes in such cases.

The case report has written in an anonymous characteristic, thus secret and detailed data about the patient has removed.

Authors	Age	Gender	Smoking	Comorbidities	BMI (kg/ m ²)	Medication (SGLT-2)	WBC (x10%/L)	Disharge day	CRP (mg/ dL)	HbA 1c (%)	SCr (mg/ dL)	WoundCultureResults	Antibiotics
Jahir et al., 2022	58	Female	n.a.	T2DM, HT, HL	48.3	Empagliflozin	26.6	n.a.	27.0	7.3	1.38	Streptococcusviridans Corynebacterium	Vancomycin, meropenem, clindamycin
Khokhar et al., 2022	55	Male	n.a.	HIV, T2DM, HL, HT, Obstructive sleep apnea	n.a.	Empagliflozin	13	œ.	n.a.	8.2	6.0	Streptococcusanginosus Staphylococcus epidermidis	Vancomycin, piperacillin- tazobactam, clindamycin (empirically) De-escalated to ampicillin-sulbactam based on culture results
Ellegardand Prytz, 2020	52	Female	Yes	T2DM,HT, asthma, hepatitisB	42	Dapagiflozin	19	18	227	n.a.	n.a.	Combination of aerobic andanaerobicpathogens	Piperacillin tazobactamswitched to meropenem, clindamycin
Elbeddini et al., 2020	72	Male	No	T2DM	n.a.	Canagliflozin	17.8	30	n.a.	7.5	n.a.	Bacteroides ovatus (fragilisgroup),Prevotella denticola,Actinomyces species	Meropenem, vancomycin, clindamycin (emprically) stepped down to oral sulfamethoxazole- trimethoprim, ciprofloxacin, metronidazole
Kumaretal., 2017	41	Male	Yes	T2DM	38	Empagliflozi n	18.3	15	283.1	11.2	n.a.	Streptococcusanginosus Mixedanaerobesand gram negative bacilli	Amoxicillin, gentamicinand vancomycin
Vargoetal., 2021	64	Male	n.a.	AF, CAD, AVR	n.a.	Dapagliflozin	n.a.	6	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Suciuetal., 2024	51	Male	Yes	CAD, AF, HF	n.a.	n.a.	40.2	n.a.	57.78	n.a.	3.29	Klebsiella pneumoniae	n.a.
Naganoetal., 2019	34	Male	Yes	T2DM	28	Empagliflozi n	21.7	41	41	6.5	0.78	Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcusaureus	Meropenem, clindamycinswitched to vancomycin
Elbeddiniet al., 2021	71	Female	n.a.	T2DM, HT, HL	n.a.	Dapagliflozin	33.2	14	n.a.	11.7	2.36	Streptococcusanginosus	Piperacillin- tazobactam, vancomycin, clindamycin (empirically)switched to piperacillin- tazobactam and clindamycin
Thiscase	59	Female	No	T2DM, HT, CKD, CAD	36	Dapagliflozin	35.49	24	320	7.73	5.14	Escherichiacoli	Imipenem-cilastatin, teicoplanin

Table 2: Summary of case reports of Fournier's gangrene associated with SGLT2 inhibitor treatment

References

- Nagano Y, Kashiwagi Yakame N, Aoki H, Yamakawa T, Kondo NI. Fournier's gangrene in a patient with type 2 diabetes mellitus treated with empagliflozin: A case report. Drug Saf Case Rep 2019; 6: Article 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40800-019-0105-8</u>
- Suciu IM, Grelus A, Cozlac AR, Suciu BS, Stoica S, Luca S, et al. Fournier's gangrene as an adverse event following treatment with sodium glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitors. Medicina 2024; 60(5): 837. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/medicina60050837</u>
- Vallon V. State-of-the-Art Review: Mechanisms of Action of SGLT2 Inhibitors and Clinical Implications. Am J Hypertens 2024; 37(11): 841–852. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ajh/hpae092</u>
- 4. Vargo E, Leone G, Barat O, Yunker A, Parekh N. A case of Fournier's gangrene following a large-volume hydrocelectomy in a diabetic patient managed with SGLT-2 inhibitor therapy. Urol Case Rep 2021; 39: 101834. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.eucr.2021.101834</u>
- Khokhar F, Hernandez C, Mahapatra R. Fournier's gangrene in an HIV-positive patient on empagliflozin for the treatment of diabetes mellitus. Cureus 2022; 14(6): e26083. <u>https://doi. org/10.7759/cureus.26083</u>
- **6.** Çalbay A, Bayramoğlu A, Karadeniz E. What are the alternatives to the LRINEC score in identifying necrotizing soft tissue

infections in the emergency department? Eurasian J Crit Care 2022; 4(2): 41-46. https://doi.org/10.55994/ejcc.1135938

- 7. Elbeddini A, Gallinger J, Davey M, Brassard S, Gazarin M, Plourde F, et al. A case of Fournier's gangrene in a patient taking canagliflozin for the treatment of type II diabetes mellitus. Am J Case Rep 2020; 21: e920115. <u>https://doi. org/10.12659/AJCR.920115</u>
- Elbeddini A, Tayefehchamani Y, Davey M, Gallinger J, Hooda N, Aly A, et al. Fournier's gangrene with dapagliflozin in a rural hospital: A case report. BMJ Case Rep 2021; 14(2): e237784. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2020-237784</u>
- 9. Ellegård L, Prytz M. Fournier's gangrene under SGLT-2 inhibitor therapy: A literature review and case report. Int J Surg Case Rep 2020; 77: 692–694. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijscr.2020.11.100</u>
- 10. Jahir T, Hossain S, Bagum M, Saidi A, Risal R, Schmidt M. A rare but life-threatening case of Fournier's gangrene caused by sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT2) inhibitor, empagliflozin. Cureus 2022; 14(9): e29264. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.29264</u>
- Kumar S, Costello AJ, Colman PG. Fournier's gangrene in a man on empagliflozin for treatment of type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med 2017; 34(11): 1646–1648. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ dme.13508</u>

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

Recurrence of Germ Cell Testicular Tumor Presenting with Choriocarcinoma Syndrome and Acute Pancreatitis

💿 Handan Özen Olcay¹, 💿 Emine Emektar¹, 💿 Yunsur Çevik¹ ¹Ataturk Sanatoryum Training and Research Hospital, Department of Emergency Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

Abstract

Choriocarcinoma syndrome (CS), characterized by pulmonary hemorrhage, widespread metastases, and markedly elevated beta-human chorionic gonadotropin levels, poses significant challenges in both diagnosis and treatment. In this case report, we present a rare case of recurrent mixed germ cell testicular tumor presenting to the emergency department with acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) secondary to CS and pancreatitis. CS is a rare but highly fatal syndrome, often arising as a complication of advanced-stage germ cell tumors. Since these patients primarily present to emergency departments, it is crucial for emergency physicians to consider CS in the differential diagnosis when young male patients with a history of testicular tumors present with acute respiratory distress, hemoptysis, abdominal pain, or symptoms resembling pancreatitis.

Keywords: Choriocarcinoma syndrome, Emergency department, Germ cell testicular tumors, Pancreatitis

Introduction

Germ cell testicular tumors (GCTs) are among the most common malignant neoplasms in males aged 15-35 years and are classified into seminomatous and non-seminomatous subtypes. Non-seminomatous germ cell tumors (NSGCTs) include yolk sac tumors, choriocarcinoma, embryonal carcinoma, teratoma, or mixed tumors comprising combinations of these subtypes. Mixed germ cell tumors, accounting for approximately 30-50% of NSGCTs, are of particular importance due to their high malignant potential and propensity for metastasis to distant organs (1,2).

Tumors containing choriocarcinoma components are prone to necrosis and hemorrhage due to rapid proliferation and vascularization, potentially leading to life-threatening complications. Choriocarcinoma syndrome (CS), characterized by pulmonary hemorrhage, widespread metastases, and markedly elevated beta-human chorionic gonadotropin (β -HCG) levels, poses significant challenges in both diagnosis and treatment (3,4). Additionally, mature pancreatic tissue present within teratomas may exhibit endocrine or exocrine function, manifesting as clinical and radiological findings such as pancreatitis or hypoglycemia (5). In this case report, we present a rare case of recurrent mixed germ cell testicular tumor presenting to the emergency department (ED) with acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) secondary to CS and pancreatitis.

Case Report

A 31-year-old male presented to the ED with complaints of sudden-onset abdominal pain and shortness of breath. His symptoms had begun approximately one hour prior, without associated nausea, vomiting, cough, or sputum production. Initial vital signs revealed an oxygen saturation of 55%, blood pressure of 190/120 mmHg, a pulse rate of 120 bpm,body temperatureof 37.5°C, and heart rhythm wasregular.

Physical examination showed tenderness in the upper abdominal quadrants, diffuse crackles, and bronchospasm on lung auscultation.Neurological examination revealed no altered mental status or focal deficits.Electrocardiogram (ECG) findings demonstrated sinus tachycardia with nonspecific ST-T wave changes.

The patient's medical history revealed that he had undergone orchiectomy for a testicular tumor three years earlier, followed by three cycles of chemotherapy. Post-

Corresponding Author: Hande Özen Olcay e-mail: hozen84@hotmail.com Received: : 03.01.2025 • Revision: 03.03.2025 • Accepted: 09.03.2025 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1555916 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey - Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Özen Olcay H, Emektar E, Çevik Y. Recurrence of Germ Cell Testicular Tumor Presenting with Choriocarcinoma Syndrome and Acute Pancreatitis. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2025;16(2): 53-55 treatment Positron Emission Tomography-Computed Tomography (PET-CT) showed no residual disease, and therapy was discontinued. The patient reported being symptom-free for the past two years and had not attended follow-up appointments. The pathology report indicated that the excised $17 \times 13 \times 12$ cm orchiectomy specimen consisted of a mixed germ cell tumor comprising 40% choriocarcinoma, 40% teratoma, and 20% yolk sac tumor.

Before performing laboratory and imaging studies, alternative diagnoses such as cardiac emergencies, acute asthma exacerbation, acute pulmonary edema, aortic dissection and thyrotoxicosis were considered due to the patient's clinical presentation.

Laboratory tests performed in the ED revealed elevated amylase (358 U/L) and lipase (733 U/L) levels, marked leukocytosis (WBC 23.5 \times 10³/µL), and a significantly increased β-HCG (3179.77 IU/L). Thyroid function tests were within normal limits; therefore, thyrotoxicosis was ruled out.Additional laboratory findings are summarized in Table 1.

Contrast-enhanced thoracic and abdominal computed tomography revealed the following findings:

- Multiple hypodense nodular lesions in liver segments, some with peripheral contrast enhancement and others non-enhancing,
- An enlarged pancreas with heterogeneous parenchyma and poorly defined hypodense nodular areas,
- 1 cm nodular lesion in the upper pole of the spleen,
- · Widespread hypodense nodules in both kidneys,
- Multiple air cysts, nodules, and diffuse ground-glass opacities in both lungs.

The imaging findings were suggestive of widespread metastatic disease and CS (Figure 1).

Given the patient's rapidly worsening hypoxia, altered mental status, and hemodynamic instability, he was emergently intubated in the ED and placed on mechanical ventilation. The decision for intubation was based on profound respiratory failure, a high risk of airway compromise due Table 1: Laboratory results of the patient

Biochemistry Tests	Complete Blood	Blood Gas Analysis
	Count	
Glucose: 54 mg/dL	WBC: 23.5 x10 ³ /µL	рН: 7.515
Urea: 30 mg/dL	RBC: 4.3 x10 ³ /µL	PCO2: 21.0 mmHg
Creatinine:0.92mg/dL	HGB: 13.2 g/dL	PO2: 45.5 mmHg
Total Bilirubin: 5.8 mg/dL	HCT: 39.0%	HCO3 ⁻ (actual): 16.6
Direct Bilirubin: 0.8 mg/dL	MCV: 90.4 fL	mmol/L
ALT: 66 IU/L	MCH: 30.6 pg	BE: -4.2 mmol/L
AST: 132 IU/L	PLT: 108.0 x10 ³ /µL	SO2: 80.1%
GGT: 93 U/L		Na+: 136.2 mmol/L
LDH: 992 IU/L		K+: 3.84 mmol/L
Amylase: 358 U/L		Ca2+: 1.02 mmol/L
Lipase: 733 U/L		Cl-: 113 mmol/L
CRP: 192 mg/L		Hb: 13.2 g/dL
β-HCG: 3179.77 IU/L		HCO3 ⁻ (standard):
		20.6mmol/L

ALT: Alanine Aminotransferase, AST: Aspartate Aminotransferase, GGT: Gamma-Glutamyl Transferase, LDH: Lactate Dehydrogenase, CRP: C-Reactive Protein, β-HCG: Beta-Human Chorionic Gonadotropin, WBC: White Blood Cells, RBC: Red Blood Cells, HGB: Hemoglobin, HCT: Hematocrit, MCV: Mean Corpuscular Volume, MCH: Mean Corpuscular Hemoglobin, PLT: Platelets, PCO2: Partial Pressure of Carbon Dioxide, PO2: Partial Pressure of Oxygen, HCO₃: Bicarbonate, BE: Base Excess, SO₂: Oxygen Saturation, Na⁺: Sodium, K⁺: Potassium, Ca²⁺: Ionized Calcium, Cl⁻: Chloride, Hb: Hemoglobin

to hemoptysis, and deteriorating hemodynamic parameters. Following stabilization, the patient was admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU) with diagnoses of acute pancreatitis and ARDS. Despite aggressive supportive care, including mechanical ventilation, vasopressor support, and broadspectrum antibiotics, the patient succumbed on the third day of ICU stay.

Discussion

This case presents a fatal complication of CS, characterized by pancreatitis and ARDS, resulting from recurrent mixed germ cell testicular tumor and widespread metastases in a young male. This syndrome, characterized by elevated β -HCG levels, widespread metastatic involvement, and rapid progression, stands out as a significant clinical entity that requires a multidisciplinary approach in both diagnosis and treatment.



Figure 1. Thorax and abdomen CT of the patient

GCTs are common in young males, but the rarity of CS as a complication makes it challenging for many clinicians to recognize this clinical presentation. Although the exact pathogenesis of CS remains unclear, direct invasion of small vessels by tumor cells and the high vascularization in these areas are proposed as the primary mechanisms leading to hemorrhages at metastatic sites. Notably, diffuse alveolar hemorrhage, which occurs in lung metastases, is both a typical complication of CS and one of the most common causes of death (6-9). This case exemplifies how the development of ARDS due to lung involvement determined the prognosis and how no response was achieved with treatment.

The presence of pancreatitis in this patient is an uncommon but recognized finding in mixed germ cell tumors, and it aligns with certain teratoma cases reported in the literature. Teratomas are known to exhibit exocrine or endocrine activity due to the mature pancreatic tissue they contain (5,9-11). This case suggests that pancreatitis may have developed as a result of both the systemic effects of CS and the teratoma component of the tumor. Furthermore, the coexistence of multisystem complications such as pancreatitis and ARDS has posed additional challenges in clinical management.

In the treatment of CS, close hemodynamic monitoring and prompt intervention in the intensive care unit are essential. However, there is still no consensus on the optimal chemotherapy regimen and timing based on current data. While early recognition of CS may allow for the use of lowdose chemotherapy or induction therapies that could reduce mortality, there is insufficient prospective data to support this (3,4,8,9). In our case, the patient had received chemotherapy two years after orchiectomy, achieved remission, and showed no metastatic involvement at that time. However, due to the absence of any symptoms in the following two years, the patient did not attend follow-up visits. The sudden onset of dyspnea and abdominal pain initially led to other differential diagnoses, but through a detailed history, review of previous tests, imaging findings, and a literature search, the diagnosis was confirmed. Nevertheless, because CS is an aggressive and often fatal complication, the patient passed away on the third day despite supportive therapy.

In conclusion, CS is a rare but highly fatal syndrome, often arising as a complication of advanced-stage germ cell tumors. This case emphasizes the importance of careful monitoring of tumor recurrence and the need to anticipate systemic complications that may develop in metastatic disease. Since these patients primarily present to EDs, it is crucial for emergency physicians to consider CS in the differential diagnosis when young male patients with a history of testicular tumors present with acute respiratory distress, hemoptysis, abdominal pain, or symptoms resembling pancreatitis.

References

- Nauman M, Leslie SW. Nonseminomatous Testicular Tumors. 2023 Aug 14. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024 Jan–. PMID: 33760513.
- Xiao QF, Li J, Tang B, Zhu YQ. Testicular mixed germ cell tumor: A case report. World J Clin Cases. 2023 Oct 6;11(28):6902-6907. doi: 10.12998/wjcc.v11.i28.6902.
- Rejlekova K, Cursano MC, De Giorgi U, Mego M. Severe Complications in Testicular Germ Cell Tumors: The Choriocarcinoma Syndrome. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2019 Apr 12;10:218. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00218.
- ZeitjianVS, ArslanW, Borja-Alvarez A, Amar S. Choriocarcinoma Syndrome: A Potentially Fatal Complication of Testicular Cancer. Case Rep Oncol Med. 2019 Feb 24;2019:4092941. doi: 10.1155/2019/4092941.
- Magudia K, Menias CO, Bhalla S, Katabathina VS, Craig JW, Hammer MM. Unusual Imaging Findings Associated with Germ Cell Tumors. Radiographics. 2019 Jul-Aug;39(4):1019-1035. doi: 10.1148/rg.2019180050.
- Trpchevska EN, Todorovska B, Todorovska MB, Trajkovska M, Nikolova D, Dzambaz D, et al. Testicular Mixed Germ Cell Tumor Presenting with Upper Gastrointestinal Bleeding: A Case Report. Pril (MakedonAkadNaukUmet Odd Med Nauki). 2023 Jul 15;44(2):47-52. doi: 10.2478/prilozi-2023-0024.
- Tannous T, Miskovsky J, Keating M. Testicular Germ Cell Tumors: Paraneoplastic Syndromes and the Role of Beta-Human Chorionic Gonadotropin. Cureus. 2021 Apr 4;13(4):e14286. doi: 10.7759/cureus.14286.
- Soputro NA, Roberts J, Wong S, Dias BH. Pretreatment of choriocarcinoma syndrome: a rare complication of metastatic germ cell tumours. BMJ Case Rep. 2022 Mar 2;15(3):e248172. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2021-248172. PMID: 35236696; PMCID: PMC8895934.
- **9.** Kandori S, Kawai K, Fukuhara Y, Joraku A, Miyanaga N, Shimazui T, et al. A case of metastatic testicular cancer complicated by pulmonary hemorrhage due to choriocarcinoma syndrome. Int J Clin Oncol. 2010 Dec;15(6):611-4. doi: 10.1007/s10147-010-0092-3.
- 10. Agrawal T, Blau AJ, Chwals WJ, Tischler AS. A Unique Case of Mediastinal Teratoma with Mature Pancreatic Tissue, Nesidioblastosis, and Aberrant Islet Differentiation: a Case Report and Literature Review. EndocrPathol. 2016 Mar;27(1):21-4. doi: 10.1007/s12022-015-9393-4.
- Suda K, Mizuguchi K, Hebisawa A, Wakabayashi T, Saito S. Pancreatic tissue in teratoma. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 1984 Oct;108(10):835-7.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

A Case of Salmonella Bacteremia in a New Diagnosed HIV-Positive Adult Patient

💿 Nisanur Aygün¹, 💿 Müge Özgüler¹

¹University of Health Sciences, Hamidiye Medical Faculty, Fethi Sekin Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Infectious Diseases and Clinic Microbiology, Elazig, Türkiye

Abstract

Salmonella species are gram-negative bacteria that cause foodborne infections with significant morbidity and mortality worldwide. Salmonella species are known pathogens associated with bacteremia, especially in immunocompromised patients. Salmonellosis is an AIDS-defining disease when it occurs in HIV-positive patients. In this case report, HIV-positive adult patient diagnosed with Salmonella bacteremia with prominent respiratory symptoms but no gastrointestinal symptoms is presented. It is concluded that Salmonella bacteremia is a diagnosis that should not be overlooked among the manifestations of HIV infection.

Keywords: AIDS, bacteremia, HIV, salmonella

Introduction

Salmonella species are Gram-negative bacteria classified in Enterobacteriaceae associated with human and animal infections. The most common initial symptoms of salmonellosis are fever, nausea, vomiting, headache, abdominal pain, diarrhea, chills, and arthralgias. Nontyphoid Salmonella (NTS) infections occur with various clinical syndromes, including gastroenteritis, bacteremia, endovascular infection, and focal infections (1-3). Although salmonellosis is generally a self-limiting disease in immunocompetent individuals, HIV-positive patients are at great risk of developing bloodstream infection, such that recurrent salmonella septicemia. So that, recurrent Salmonella septicemia has been recognized as an acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)-defining illness (3). In developed countries, secondary bacteremia develops in approximately 5% of patients with non-typhoidal salmonellosis, and this bacteremia usually occurs in immunosuppressed HIV patients, patients with malignancy, chronic kidney or liver disease, diabetes, etc. (2). This case report describes a Salmonella bacteremia occurring in an HIV-infected adult patient.

Case Report

In this case, is presented a Salmonella bacteremia occurring in a 23-year-old newly diagnosed HIV-positive adult male patient. The patient had presented to the emergency department with a five-day history of cough, sputum, and intermittent hemoptysis. In addition to these complaints, fever and nocturnal sweats also accompanied. The patient had nausea but no vomiting. The day before coming to the outpatient clinic, the patient had semi-solid, non-bloody mucoid defecation twice daily. The patient was hospitalized at the infectious diseases clinic due to preliminary diagnoses of bacterial pneumonia, pneumocystis pneumonia (PCP) and pulmonary tuberculosis. The patient was diagnosed with HIV approximately three months before hospitalization and had not previously received any antiretroviral treatment. The patient received fifteen days of outpatient treatment for pneumonia a year ago. He lost approximately 10 kg in ten days at that time. The patient has been smoking for twelve to thirteen years but does not drink alcohol or addictive substances.

On admission, the patient was conscious, presented with a Glasgow Coma Score (GCS) of 15/15, cooperative,

Corresponding Author: Müge Özgüler e-mail: mugeozguler@gmail.com Received: 28.02.2025 • Revision: 07.03.2025 • Accepted: 15.03.2025 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1648569 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey -Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Aygün N, Özgüler M. A Case of Salmonella Bacteremia in a New Diagnosed HIV-Positive Adult Patient. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2025;16(1): 56-58 oriented, hemodynamically and respiratory stable, body temperature of 36.6 °C, pulse rate of 74 per min, blood pressure of 103/70 mmHg, oropharynx hyperemic. There was widespread candidal plaque in the oral mucosa and generalized lymphadenopathy with the nodes 1.1-1.7 cm in diameter in the submandibular and axillary zones. There was tenderness in the right upper quadrant of the abdomen but defense and rebound were negative. Lung breath sounds were normal. No amoeba, parasites, leukocytes, or erythrocytes were observed in stool microscopy but stool was positive for occult blood. Salmonella spp was positive in the blood culture taken from the patient during the fever period on the first day of hospitalization. There was no bacterial growth in the sputum culture with negative PCP. They found that anergic purified protein derivative (PPD), sputum acid-fast bacilli for Mycobacteria and Interferon Gamma Release Assay (IGRA) tests were negative. Pretreatment and post-treatment laboratory data are given in Table-1.

On the patient's thoracic tomography, consolidation areas containing infectious air bronchogram were observed on the posterior upper lobe of the right lung and the mediobasal and posterobasal segments of the left lung (Figures-1 and 2). Pneumonic consolidation zones were consistent with tuberculosis, but laboratory data did not support tuberculosis. No any significant finding was observed in the abdominal ultrasonography. Echocardiography did not reveal any vegetation or thrombus.

Piperacillin-tazobactam 4x4.5 gr treatment was initially started empirically due to respiratory symptoms and consolidations in favor of pneumonia on the thoracic tomography. In the follow-up of the patient, cough, sputum, hemoptysis, and diarrhea symptoms regressed, and the fever continued to be undulating. Piperacillin-tazobactam therapy was stopped on the 11th day in the patient who had bacteremia, and a 7-day tigecycline (100 mg loading dose, then 50 mg twice daily) treatment was applied. On the 11th day of the patient's hospitalization,

Table 1: Pre and post-treatment laboratory data

Parameters	Pre-treatment values	Post-treatment values (18th day)
WBC	3400/mm ³	2400/mm ³
PLT	48,000/mm ³	130.000/mm ³
Hb	8.9 g/dL	9.2 g/dL
AST	80 IU/L	23 IU/L
ALT	46 IU/L	19 IU/L
CRP	385 mg/L	8.4 mg/L
PCT	10.39 ng/mL	0.03 ng/mL
CD4 ⁺ T cell	7 cells/μL	-
HIV-RNA	3743194 IU/mL	-

WBC: White blood cell; PLT: Platelet; Hb: Hemoglobin; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; CRP: C-reactive protein; PCT: Procalcitonin; HIV-RNA: Human Immunodeficiency Virus – Ribonucleic acid.



Figure 1. Consolidation area on the anterior upper lobe of the right lung on the thoracic tomography



Figure 2. Consolidation area on the the mediobasal and posterobasal segments of the left lung on the thoracic tomography

both antiretroviral therapy with bictegravir/emtricitabine/ tenofovir alafenamide (B/F/TAF) 50 mg/200 mg/25 mg once daily and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole 160/800 mg once daily as primary prophylaxis was started when pulmonary tuberculosis was excluded. Seven days after the treatment, no bacterial growth was observed in the control blood culture. The patient responded positively to the therapy applied. The patient improved clinically and was discharged on the 18th day of the hospitalization because the fever was limited and he had no active complaints. In the 4th month of antiretroviral therapy, HIV-RNA was negative, and CD4 count was 237 cells per μ L. In the 10th month of antiretroviral therapy, the CD4 count was found to be 423 cells per μ L, and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole prophylaxis was discontinued.

Discussion

Here, we report a rare case from our country in which both Salmonella bacteremia and HIV-infection coexist in an adult patient. Salmonellosis is an infection usually characterized by fever, abdominal pain, diarrhea, nausea, and vomiting. Symptoms of illness usually appear 6-72 hours after the agent is ingested, and this period can last up to 7 days (3). *Salmonella* infections with self-limiting enterocolitis generally do not require antimicrobial therapy, but when *Salmonella* bacteria enter the systemic circulation, all tissues and organs are susceptible, causing various focal *Salmonella* infections (4). It is also recommended to investigate whether the patient has a genetic or acquired immune deficiency or an endovascular focus of infection when *Salmonella* bacteremia is diagnosed in an adult patient (5). Therefore, it is reported that *Salmonella* infection and especially bacteremia should be considered as a diagnosis of AIDS in a patient at risk for HIV infection (3,5). We reported a *Salmonella* bacteremia in an HIV-positive adult patient, which is rarely seen in our country.

On the other hand, patients with invasive Salmonella disease often present with focal infection in the lower respiratory tract (2). Respiratory system symptoms such as cough, sputum, and hemoptysis were prominently observed in our HIV-positive patient with *Salmonella* bacteremia but no obvious gastrointestinal symptoms other than diarrhea. A *Salmonella* bacteremia was previously reported in an HIV-positive adult patient in Türkiye, which was also caused by *Salmonella arizonae* (6). Although the cited case reported that the HIV-positive patient also had diabetes, bronchiectasis, and tuberculous lymphadenitis, the patient's respiratory and gastrointestinal symptoms were unclear.

In a retrospective analysis of patients with non-typhoidal *Salmonella* bacteremia in a study conducted in Malaysia, an extraintestinal focus of infection was noted in 30.9% of patients, the majority of which were pulmonary and soft tissue infections. In the mentioned study, 65.5% of the patients had serious underlying clinical immunosuppressive conditions, the most common being malignancy and HIV (7). Similarly, our patient had underlying HIV infection, and *Salmonella* bacteremia was associated with pneumonia. Again, CD4 T-lymphocyte counts are reported as less than 200 cells per μ L in the majority of adult patients with invasive non-typhoidal salmonella disease in association with HIV (2,3). Our patient's CD4 T-lymphocyte count was found to be less than the mentioned value (Table-1).

It is reported that treatment of salmonellosis with antibiotics does not reduce the duration of uncomplicated *Salmonella* gastroenteritis but rather significantly prolongs the period of fecal excretion of bacteria and increases the risk of resistance to antibiotics. Therefore, salmonellosis should be treated with antibiotics only in the presence of bacteremia, enteric fever, focal infection or abscess(8). Tang et al. (9) showed that tigecycline had significant in vitro and in vivo antimicrobial activities against extracellular and intracellular *Salmonella* in a murine peritonitis model. However, the emergence of *Salmonella* antibiotic resistance is also a significant public health problem worldwide (1,3). Furthermore, tigecycline was also found to be effective against ceftriaxone-resistant *Salmonella* spp. (10). Since one of our patient's preliminary diagnoses was tuberculosis, we avoided the use of quinolones in order not to encourage tuberculosis resistance. Tigecycline therapy was applied for the treatment of *Salmonella* bacteremia, and our patient responded favorably to this treatment.

Conclusion

In this case report, it was concluded that *Salmonella* bacteremia, which has relatively few gastrointestinal symptoms, is a diagnosis that should not be overlooked among the signs of HIV infection and that careful treatment with effective antibiotic therapy is necessary to a good prognosis.

References

- Sanchez-Vargas FM, Abu-El-Haija MA, Gomez-Duarte OG. Salmonella infections: An update on epidemiology, management, and prevention. Travel Medicine and Infectious Disease 2011;9: 263-277.
- Feasey NA, Dougan G, Kingsley RA, Heyderman RS, Gordon MA. Invasive non-typhoidal salmonella disease: an emerging and neglected tropical disease in Africa. Lancet 2012;379: 2489-2499.
- **3.** Russotto Y, Micali C, Pellicanò GF, Nunnari G, Venanzi Rullo E. HIV and mediterranean zoonoses: A review of the literature. Infectious Disease Reports. 2022;14: 694–709.
- **4.** Subramoney EL. Non-typhoidal *Salmonella* infections in HIV-positive adults. SAMJ 2015;105: 805-807.
- **5.** Fierer J. Invasive non-typhoidal *Salmonella* (iNTS) infections. Clinical Infectious Diseases 2022;75: 732–738.
- Ozdemir D, Sahin I, Sencan I. Salmonella arizonae bacteraemia in a Turkish patient with AIDS but no history of contact with reptiles, Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases 2006;38: 237-238.
- Dhanoa A, Fatt QK. Non-typhoidal Salmonella bacteraemia: Epidemiology, clinical characteristics and its' association with severe immunosuppression. Annals of Clinical Microbiology and Antimicrobials 2009;8: 15.
- **8.** Alaoui ZT, Arabi F, Ihbibane F, Soraa N, Tassi N. The first description of liver abscesses due to Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica in an African HIV-infected young woman: Case report and review of the literature. Revista do Instituto de Medicina Tropical de São Paulo 2021;63:e72.
- **9.** Tang, HJ, Ko WC, Chen CC, Chen PL, Toh HS, Weng TC, Yu WL, Chiang SR, Chuang YC. In vitro and in vivo intracellular killing effects of tigecycline against clinical nontyphoid Salmonella isolates using ceftriaxone as a comparator. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 2011;55(6): 2755-2759.
- **10.** Capoor MR, Nair D, Posti J, Singhal S, Deb M, Aggarwal P, Pillai P. Minimum inhibitory concentration of carbapenems and tigecycline against *Salmonella* spp. Journal of Medical Microbiology 2009;58: 337-341.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

Retained Foreign Body not Detected by Imaging Methods

Mustafa Çifçi¹, Muhammet Gökhan Turtay¹, Naim Hikmet Kalkan¹, Furkan Tayiz¹

Abstract

In this case presentation, we aimed to present a case of a retained foreign body in the gluteal region of a male child that was overlooked in imaging methods. An 11-year-old male child was brought to the emergency department by his family after reporting that a splinter had entered his left inner hip area while sliding on a slanted board they had placed to play. A lesion was detected on the left inner hip area, where the patient indicated pain, potentially corresponding to the point of entry. However, no foreign object or hardness was felt upon examination. A superficial ultrasound (US) examination was performed, and no pathology was found in the lesion site or the surrounding area. As the patient's severe pain persisted, a pelvic computed tomography (CT) scan was conducted. The pelvic CT scan revealed air densities in the region of the skin lesion, but no other pathology was identified. Later, due to the continuation of the patient's complaints, the area was done repeat physical examination along the air densities starting from the skin lesion. During this examination, a hardness was detected under the skin on the upper outer side of the right hip, at the end of the tract originating from the skin lesion. An incision was made at the site of the palpable hardness. Upon finding a foreign object, the child was made consultation to the pediatric surgery department. The foreign body, measuring approximately 35x0.8 cm, was then removed in a procedure performed by the pediatric surgery team. In cases of retained foreign body, although imaging methods such as US and CT are important for diagnosis, it should be remembered that in rare cases where imaging methods are not helpful, a thorough history and physical examination remain the most effective approach.

Keywords: Computed tomography, retained foreign body, ultrasound

Introduction

Retained foreign body accounts for 7% to 15% of emergency department visits, and it has been found that 38% of these foreign bodies are overlooked during the initial evaluation (1). In the United States, 37% of malpractice lawsuits related to emergency departments have been linked to foreign bodies (2). Materials such as wood, acrylic, and some plastics have densities similar to the surrounding soft tissues, making them difficult to visualize, and it has been reported that only 15% of wooden foreign bodies are detected in plain radiographs (3).

In this case presentation, we aimed to present a case of a retained foreign body in the gluteal region of an 11-year-old male child that was overlooked in imaging methods.

Case Report

An 11-year-old male child was brought to the emergency department by his family after reporting that a splinter had entered his left inner hip area while sliding on a slanted board they had placed to play. The patient's general condition was good, with clear consciousness, cooperation,

and orientation. His vital signs were as follows: blood pressure 130/70 mmHg, pulse 76/min, respiratory rate 18/ min, body temperature 36.5°C, and SaO2 99%. A lesion potentially corresponding to the point of entry was identified at the site of pain, as indicated by the patient, in the left inner hip region (Figure-1). However, no foreign body or hardness was felt upon examination. A superficial ultrasound (US) examination showed no pathology at the lesion site or in the surrounding area. As the patient's severe pain persisted, a pelvic computed tomography (CT) scan was performed. The pelvic CT scan revealed air densities in the region of the skin lesion (Figure-2), but no other pathology was found. Later, as the patient's complaints continued, the area was re-examined along the tract of air densities starting from the skin lesion. During this examination, a palpable hardness was found under the skin on the upper outer side of the right hip. A superficial US examination was requested at the site of the palpable hardness, but no pathology was identified again. Despite the lack of pathology detected in imaging methods, the palpable hardness and the patient's severe pain prompted a small incision to be made at the site of the hardness (Figure-3). Upon finding a foreign body, the child was consulted to the pediatric surgery department. A foreign

Corresponding Author: : Muhammet Gökhan Turtay e-mail: mgturtay@gmail.com Received: 02.03.2025 • Revision: : 16.03.2025 • Accepted: 20.03.2025 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1649385 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey -Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Çiftçi M, Turtay MG, Kalkan NH, Tayiz F. Retained Foreign Body not Detected by Imaging Methods. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2025;16(2): 59-61



Figure 1. In the initial examination, the area where the patient reported pain, which was considered as the possible entry site, was identified.



Figure 2. The pelvic CT scan revealed air densities in the region of the skin lesion.



Figure 3. The incision made over the area with hardness during the examination.



Figure 4. Removed foreign body

body measuring approximately 35x0.8 cm was removed during the procedure performed by the pediatric surgery team (Figure-4). The patient was followed and subsequently discharged.

Discussion

In patients presenting with suspicion of a foreign body, a detailed history and physical examination are crucial during the initial assessment. Metals, glass, and wood are the most commonly encountered foreign bodies (4). Metal objects are easily detected in plain radiographs. However, glass and wood are difficult to visualize on radiographs, and glass alone accounts for 50% of foreign bodies that are overlooked despite physical examination and radiography (5). In our case, the foreign body was a piece of wood, which was not detected through imaging methods at the initial stage but was diagnosed later based on suspicion following a careful physical examination.

In cases of injury within the first 24 hours, the entry site can usually be easily seen, and intervention is more straightforward, making the ideal time for diagnosis and treatment within the first 24 hours (6). Delayed treatment can lead to complications such as infection, delayed wound healing, and loss of function (7). Therefore, early diagnosis is essential; failure to make a diagnosis may lead to malpractice claims and compensation lawsuits (5). In our case, the patient presented to the hospital 2 hours after exposure to the foreign body, and the intervention was performed.

Bedside US is an easily accessible, radiation-free, inexpensive, and safe imaging method commonly used in emergency department practice. Since most wooden foreign body insertions result from low-energy trauma, they are typically superficial. US is one of the best imaging techniques for diagnosing superficially located foreign bodies (8,9). However, in our case, the foreign body could not be detected using US.

For detecting deeper foreign bodiesCT may be used. CT has been shown to be the best imaging method for plastic, glass, and stone foreign bodies (10). In our case, following the failure to identify the foreign body on USG, a CT scan was performed based on the patient's history and physical examination findings. However, the initial interpretation of the CT scan was normal, with the exception of air densities. Afterward, a foreign body was detected during incision at the site of the palpable hardness, and the foreign body was removed.

Conclusion

In cases of retained foreign body, although imaging methods such as US and CT are important for diagnosis, it should be remembered that in rare cases where imaging methods are not helpful, a thorough history and physical examination remain the most effective approach.

References

1. Steele M, Tran L, Watson W, Muelleman RL. Retained glass foreign bodies in wounds: predictive value of wound

characteristics, patient perception, and wound exploration. Am J Emerg Med 1998;16:627–30.

- 2. Vukmir RB. Medical malpractice: managing the risk. Med Law 2004; 23:495-513.
- **3.** Potini VC, Francisco R, Shamian B, Tan V. Sequelae of foreign bodies in the wrist and hand. Hand (NY) 2013;8:77–81.
- Levine MR, Gorman SM, Young CF, Courtney DM. Clinical characteristics and management of wound foreign bodies in the ED. Am J Emerg Med2008;26:918–22.
- **5.** Kaiser CW, Slowick T, Spurling KP, Friedman S.Retained foreign bodies. J Trauma 1997;43:107–11.
- **6.** Halaas GW. Management of foreign bodies in the skin. Am Fam Physician 2007;76:683–90.
- DeBoard RH, Rondeau DF, Kang CS, Sabbaj A, McManus JG. Principles of basic wound evaluation and management in the emergency department. Emerg Med Clin North Am 2007;25:23–39.
- Haghnegahdar A, Shakibafard A, Khosravifard N. Comparison between Computed Tomography and Ultrasonography in Detecting Foreign Bodies Regarding Their Composition and Depth: an In Vitro Study. J Dent (Shiraz) 2016;17(3):177–84.
- Peterson JJ, Bancroft LW, Kransdorf MJ. Wooden foreign bodies: imaging appearance. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2002;178(3):557–62.
- 10. Aras MH, Miloglu O, Barutcugil C, Kantarci M, Ozcan E, Harorli A. Comparison of the sensitivity for detecting foreign bodies among conventional plain radiography, computed tomography and ultrasonography. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2010;39(2):72–8.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

A Rare Complication due to Methanol Poisoning: MINOCA

🐵 Erdem Aksay¹, 🐵 Ahmet Burak Urfalioglu¹, 🐵 Ayca Balta¹, 💿 Ali Isa Aslan¹, 💿 Yeliz Simsek¹, 💿 Hayri Cinar¹, 💿 Akkan Avci¹ ¹Department of Emergency Medicine, Adana City Research and Training Hospital, Health Science University, Adana, Türkiye

Abstract

Myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary arteries (MINOCA) is a relatively novel clinical puzzle characterized by limited research. In this case, we aimed to present the co-occurrence of methanol poisoning and MINOCA syndrome. This case demonstrated the importance of monitoring cardiac function with electrocardiography and cardiac biomarkers in patients within a high anion gap metabolic acidosis environment. This case report was showing co-oc-currences of MINOCA syndrome with methanol poisoning. This was the first case of myocardial infarction in non-obstructive coronary arteries associated with methanol poisoning accompanied by high anion gap metabolic acidosis in the literature.

Keywords: Emergency, metabolic acidosis, MINOCA, poisoning

Introduction

Myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary arteries (MINOCA) is a relatively novel clinical puzzle, accounting for approximately 10% of all acute myocardial infarction cases, characterized by limited research (1,2). In patients presenting with chest pain and acute myocardial injury detected by high-sensitivity troponin (hs-Tn) testing, the diagnosis is established when there is no stenosis of 50% or more in the coronary arteries on angiography (1). MINOCA constitutes a heterogeneous group of conditions that can develop due to various etiologies, including epicardial vascular causes such as coronary plaque rupture, spasm, and spontaneous dissection, as well as microvascular causes such as coronary thromboembolism and microvascular dysfunction, or non-ischemic events such as myocarditis and myopathies (3). Due to the differing pathophysiology, the management of patients with MINOCA differs significantly from that of other acute myocardial infarction (AMI) patients (4). In this case, we aimed to present the cooccurrence of methanol poisoning and MINOCA syndrome. We did not encounter any reported cases of myocardial infarction in non-obstructive coronary arteries associated

online at www.iemcr.com

with methanol poisoning accompanied by high anion gap metabolic acidosis in the literature we reviewed.

Case Report

A 41-year-old male patient was brought to our hospital's emergency department due to the sudden onset of altered consciousness. According to information obtained from the patient's relatives, a history of hypertension, hyperlipidemia and chronic alcohol consumption was reported. It was learned that on the day of admission, the patient consumed approximately one liter of homemade raki. Upon initial evaluation in the emergency department, the patient's overall condition was poor, with a Glasgow Coma Scale score of 6. His body temperature was 36.4°C, heart rate was 119 beats per minute, oxygen saturation (SpO₂) in room air was 85%, blood pressure was 70/40 mm-Hg, and blood glucose level was 100 mg/dL (Table-1). Electrocardiography (ECG) showed sinus tachycardia with T wave inversions in chest leads (Figure 1.A). Bedside echocardiography revealed an ejection fraction of 60%, no segmental wall motion abnormalities, and no evidence of pericardial effusion. The patient was intubated and connected to a mechanical ventilator.

Corresponding Author: Yeliz Simsek e-mail: ylzberk@yahoo.com Received: 26.12.2024 • Revision: 10.03.2025 • Accepted: 24.03.2025 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1607187 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey - Available **Cite this article as:** Aksay E, Urfalioglu AB, Balta Ayca, Aslan AI, Simsek Y, Cinar H, Avci A. A Rare Complication due to Methanol Poisoning: MINOCA. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2025;16(2): 62-65

Methanol intoxication was considered due to the patient's history, clinical findings, and severe metabolic acidosis. Methanol level cannot be measured in our hospital. Paracetamol and salicylate levels were measured as toxicological parameters and the result was negative. Treatment for methanol poisoning was initiated. Fluid boluses and the dual inotropes were initiated due to hypotension. Intravenous sodium bicarbonate therapy was administered to correct acidosis. 50 mg of folic acid was started and the patient was urgently admitted to hemodialysis. The hourly monitoring of blood gas parameters for the patient who underwent continuous hemodialysis for 9 hours, along with admission and follow-up biochemical parameters, is presented in Table 1. After hemodialysis, the blood gas returned to normal. Throughout this period, the patient underwent ECG monitoring. The ECG findings associated with hyperkalemia resolved by the 3rd hour of hemodialysis in the patient whose hyperkalemia was corrected with hemodialysis (Figure 1.B). During the patient's latest follow-up, inferior ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction was detected on the ECG (Figure 1.C). The patient underwent emergency coronary angiography, which revealed normal coronary arteries.(Figure 2) Subsequently, the patient was admitted to the intensive care unit. During his hospitalization, he needed hemodialysis twice and plasmapheresis three times. The patient, who clinically improved during follow-up, was discharged after 47 days. The patient did not require hemolysis in subsequent follow-up.

Discussion

The MINOCA syndrome was first described 80 years ago. The initial studies conducted by De Wood et al. included demonstration of occluded coronary arteries in 90% of STelevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) patients. While this groundbreaking study emphasized the importance of coronary obstruction in the pathogenesis of AMI, it also confirmed the absence of obstruction in approximately 10% of patients (5). With the publication of a position paper on MINOCA by the ESC in 2016, its significance has been better understood and has paved the way for many subsequent studies. Particularly due to its occurrence in younger patients and the differences in etiology, prognosis, and treatment protocols, clinicians should pay special attention to it (3). In its etiopathogenesis, coronary artery spasm and coronary plaque rupture are the two most commonly known causes (3). Approximately 40% of MINOCA cases arise from plaque rupture. Plaque rupture leads to less than 50% stenosis of the coronary artery lumen. Coronary artery spasm is another major factor implicated in its etiology. This condition is thought to occur as a result of abnormal responses of vascular smooth muscles to endogenous or exogenous stimuli (3). When we look at other causes, myocarditis is also one of the most common non-coronary reasons for MINOCA. It is estimated to account for approximately one-third of cases. It primarily stems from Coxsackie virus, adenovirus, influenza

Table 1: Monitoring of the patient's blood gas, complete blood count, and biochemical tests

Arterial Blood Gas Parameters		рН	HCO ₃	pCO ₂ (mmHg)	Base excess	Potassium(mmol/L)	Lactate (mg/dL)
0th hour		6.81	7.2	46.6	-26.9	6.3	21
1st hour		6.91	8.9	49.8	-22.7	5.9	20
2nd hour		7.05	10.3	34.5	-20.9	5.9	16
3rd hour		7.14	14.4	45.0	-13.5	3.9	20
4th hour		7.25	17.2	41.7	-8.5	3.2	27
5th hour		7.29	21.7	51	-1.8	3.2	12
6th hour		7.34	21.3	40.8	-3.7	2.8	10
7th hour		7.33	24.2	51.8	+1.4	2.7	7
8th hour		7.37	23.9	43.7	+0.5	3.1	10
9th hour		7.41	23.3	35.8	-1.6	3.7	12
Biochemical Parameters	0th hour	9th hour	1st day	2nd day	3rd day	7th day	15th day
Hs Troponin-I (ng/L)	25	73	-	233500	56500	-	315
Urea (mg/dL)	125	19	32	124	188	116	142
Creatinine (mg/dL)	4.75	0.79	1.1	4.16	5.74	1.62	4.33
Aspartate aminotransferase (U/L)	122	167	433	393	105	47	178
Alanine aminotransferase (U/L)	84	69	85	98	62	32	490
White Blood Cell (10^3/µl)	17.6	4.6	3.8	16.2	24.3	35.2	19.2
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	12.8	12.9	11.4	12.8	10.5	10.2	6.7
hematocrit (%)	46.5	37.1	32.4	37.8	30.5	31.7	21.4
Platelet counts (10^3/µl)	89	50	38	55	80	247	177
INR	1.19	0.94	1.58	1.0	1.08	1.18	1.35
APTT (s)	53.3	30.7		33.2	27.3	29.6	37.5
Ethanol (Promil)	0.074						

HCO₂: Bicarbonate, pCO₂: partial pressure of carbon dioxide, mmHg: millimeters of mercury,dl: deciliter, g: gram, L: liter, mEq: milliequivalent, mg: milligram, mL: millilitermm, mm: millimeter, mmol: millimoles, s: second, U:unit, ng:nanogram



Figure 1. The initial electrocardiogram of the patient highlights T-wave inversions in the chest leads, as indicated by the red arrow (A). This was accompanied by hyperkalemia. It is observed that the T-wave inversions on the electrocardiogram returned to normal after the potassium level returned to normal (B). In the subsequent electrocardiogram, ST segment elevation observed in the inferior leads, indicated by red arrows, is visible (C).



Α

Figure 1. The patient's coronary angiography findings. It is observed the normal right coronary artery and its branches (A). It is observed the normal left coronary artery and its branches (B).

virus, and Epstein-Barr virus (3). When the literature is reviewed, it is observed that MINOCA syndrome accompanied by methanol poisoning has not been reported.

Although methanol level was required for the diagnosis of methanol poisoning, this test was not available in our hospital, as in most centers. Diagnosis is made with clinical suspicion, history of illicit alcohol use, characteristic examination findings (neurological, ophthalmological, etc.) and the presence of metabolic acidosis with a wide anion gap. (6,7) There are very limited datas in the literature regarding the effects of methanol poisoning on the cardiovascular system.(6)

Although the direct cardiovascular effects of methanol or its metabolites are unknown, The hemodynamic instability and high anion gap metabolic acidosis disrupted in methanol poisoning can lead to both impaired coronary artery perfusion and suppression of myocardial tissue function. Some studies have found ECG changes in cases of methanol poisoning.(6-8) Although the observed ST segment elevation in our case provided metabolic and hemodynamic stability, it indicates that coronary and myocardial involvement persists. This case demonstrates the importance of monitoring not only cardiac function but also ECG and cardiac biomarkers in patients within a high anion gap metabolic acidosis environment.

Conclusion

Cardiac involvement, which is less common in patients with methanol poisoning than gastrointestinal and neuroophthalmological findings, should definitely be kept in mind. Therefore, routine cardiac monitoring is important in suspected patients.

References

- 1. Takahashi J, Onuma S, Hao K, Godo S, Shiroto T, Yasuda S. Pathophysiology and diagnostic pathway of myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary arteries. J Cardiol 2024;83(1):17-24.
- 2. Bainey KR, Welsh RC, Alemayehu W, Westerhout CM, Traboulsi D, Anderson T, et al. Population-level incidence and outcomes of myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary arteries (MINOCA): Insights from the Alberta contemporary acute coronary syndrome patients invasive treatment strategies (COAPT) study. Int J Cardiol 2018;264:12-7.
- Abdu FA, Mohammed AQ, Liu L, Xu Y, Che W. Myocardial Infarction with Nonobstructive Coronary Arteries (MINOCA): A Review of the Current Position. Cardiology 2020;145(9):543-52.
- Cheema AN, Yanagawa B, Verma S, Bagai A, Liu S. Myocardial infarction with nonobstructive coronary artery disease (MINOCA): a review of pathophysiology and management. Curr Opin Cardiol 2021;36(5):589-96.
- Agewall S, Beltrame JF, Reynolds HR, Niessner A, Rosano G, Caforio AL, et al. ESC working group position paper on myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary arteries. Eur Heart J 2017;38(3):143-153.
- Magdalan J, Zawadzki M, Maksymowicz K. Fatal methanol poisoning complicated with acute coronary syndrome--a case report. Przegl Lek 2010; 67; 8: 610-2.
- Boyaci F, Akcay M, Sahin MK, Erzincan M, Ucar M. Causation or coincidence? A case of methanol intoxication presenting with acute myocardial infarction and visual impairment. J Exp Clin Med 2024; 41(2): 436-439
- 8. Nikoo MH, Arjangzadeh A, Pakfetrat M, Boogar SS, Mohammadkarimi V, Ostovan VR, et al. Electrocardiographic findings of methanol toxicity: a cross-sectional study of 356 cases in Iran. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2020; 20; 1: 415.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

Acute Maras Powder Intoxication-Case Report

Boran Polat¹, D Hatice Şeyma Akça¹

¹Department of Emergency Medicine, Karamanoglu Mehmetbey University, Karaman, Turkiye

Abstract

Maras Powder, a smokeless tobacco known as Aztec tobacco globally, is made by mixing dried Nicotiana Rustica leaves with tree ashes. It results in absorption of nicotine that is approximately 10 times higher than that from regular cigarettes. Due to its high nicotine content, it can cause severe toxicity and requires prompt treatment in cases of acute intoxication. This case report describes a 48-year-old male who developed confusion and syncope from Maras Powder use. The symptoms improved within hours, and the patient was fully recovered after 24 hours. Even though there are some cases associated with Maras powder use, this is, to our knowledge, the only documented case of acute symptomatic Maras Powder intoxication in adults. It should be suspected in regions where it is commonly used, with careful attention to patient history.

Keywords: Aztec Tobacco, Maras powder, Maras powder intoxication, nicotine intoxication, smokeless tobacco

Introduction

Smokeless tobacco has become more prevalent worldwide and is known by different names in various cultures (1). A type of smokeless tobacco known worldwide as Aztec tobacco and in Turkey as "Maras Powder" (Figure-1 and 2) is generally made by mixing the dried leaves of the Nicotiana Rustica plant with the ashes of trees such as oak, although its production methods may vary (2). About a teaspoon of the powder is used either alone or wrapped in cigarette paper and placed on the upper or lower labial mucosa, where it is held for 5 to 10 minutes. The frequency of use varies depending on the level of addiction and the individual's physiology (3). In regular cigarettes, the amount of nicotine absorbed per cigarette ranges from approximately 0.05 to 2.5 mg, whereas the amount of nicotine absorbed from Maras Powder ranges from 7 to 9 mg. This indicates that it delivers nearly 10 times the amount of nicotine compared to cigarettes (4).

Use of Maras Powder has been observed to be more common among married men with low educational and income levels. Additionally, in a study by Akbay and colleagues its use found to be more prevalent among individuals over the age of 46 who have previously smoked. These data suggest that younger users may turn to Maras Powder over time as an alternative to cigarettes to enhance satisfaction (5). It is also known that Maras Powder is preferred as a means of quitting smoking (6). Due to its high nicotine content, Maras Powder is a substance that can cause severe toxicity and must be promptly recognized and treated in cases of acute intoxication (7). In our case report, we aim to describe the clinical presentation of confusion and syncope resulting from Maras Powder use.



Figure 1. Nicotiana Rustica (Wikipedia contributors. Nicotiana rustica (Aztec tobacco, wild tobacco) [Internet]. [cited 2025 Feb 2].

Corresponding Author: Boran Polat e-mail: borannpolat@gmail.com Received: 10.02.2025 • Revision: 24.03.2025 • Accepted: 28.03.2025 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1637237 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey -Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Polat B, Akça HŞ. Acute Maras Powder Intoxication-Case Report. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2025;16(2): 66-69



Figure 2. Maras Powder [Internet]. [cited 2025 Feb 2]

A 48-year-old male patient was brought to the emergency department with complaints of syncope and confusion. Apart from a history of coronary angiography three years ago, he had no other medical history and was taking a betablocker and acetylsalicylic acid (100 mg). Upon admission, his general condition was moderate, he was confused, and his Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score was assessed as 12. During the intervention, he exhibited agitation and purposeless movements.

On physical examination, there was no nuchal rigidity, and Kernig and Brudzinski tests were negative. His body temperature was 36.6°C, heart rate was 78 bpm, respiratory rate was 15 breaths per minute, and blood pressure was 105/60 mmHg. His electrocardiogram (ECG) showed a sinus rhythm. A brain computed tomography (CT) scan revealed no signs of acute hemorrhage and diffusion MRI showed no findings suggestive of acute ischemic stroke.

Laboratory tests showed a pH of 7.24, PCO₂ of 45 mmHg, HCO_3 of 19.5 mmol/L, and lactate of 7.70 mmol/L. Aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), creatinine, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), and troponin-I levels were within normal limits. His glucose level was 100mg/dl. No findings suggestive of anemia were detected. He and his relatives didn't report any psychiatric history, substance or alcohol use.

However, a history obtained from the patient's relatives revealed that he had been using Maras Powder regularly for the past two weeks to quit smoking. The patient was started on intravenous 0.9% NaCl (1000 mL), 5 mg midazolam, and nasal oxygen at 2 L/min. He was monitored in the emergency department and continued receiving supportive treatment.

Three hours after admission, arterial blood gas analysis showed pH: 7.37, PCO₂: 42 mmHg, HCO₃: 23 mmol/L, and lactate: 0.78 mmol/L. As his blood gas values returned to normal, his confusion improved, and his GCS score increased to 15. After 24 hours of observation, he was discharged from the emergency department.

Discussion

Nicotine intoxication has become more common in recent years, particularly with the increasing use of e-cigarettes, which often include oral nicotine pouches. It exhibits a bimodal distribution, with accidental ingestion being more frequent in children under the age of 10, while intentional use for suicide is more common in adults (8). Similarly, in our country, cases of Maras Powder intoxication among pediatric patients presenting to the emergency department, particularly in Kahramanmaraş and its surrounding areas, have been reported as cases of accidental ingestion (7). In our case, however, intoxication resulted from the unintentional overuse of Maras Powder due to a lack of awareness regarding its high nicotine content.

Acute nicotine intoxication presents with a biphasic pattern due to its ability to both stimulate and inhibit cholinergic receptors. Initially, it may manifest with symptoms such as excessive salivation, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, and sweating. Additionally, vasoconstriction can lead to pallor and increased blood pressure. Tachycardia and, in some cases, cardiac arrhythmias (such as atrial fibrillation) may also occur (9). After a certain period, nicotine-induced desensitization of acetylcholine receptors can result in confusion, somnolence, muscle weakness, and, in severe toxicity, respiratory depression and cardiac arrest (10). The literature also reports delirium associated with oral nicotine gum use and chest pain due to nicotineinduced coronary vasospasm (11). In cases of Maras Powder intoxication observed in the pediatric population in our country, symptoms such as vomiting, somnolence, metabolic acidosis, and convulsions have been reported (7). In our patient, the presence of hypotension and confusion suggested that these symptoms were primarily due to the acetylcholine-related effects of Maras Powder.

Nicotine's half-life varies depending on factors such as gender and genetic influences. In a study by Benowitz and colleagues itranged from approximately 90–150 minutes in non-smokers and 100–200 minutes in smokers (12). Consequently, symptoms tend to resolve quickly, with most patients achieving full recovery within 12 hours (9). In our case, symptom improvement and normalization of blood gas levels were observed within 3 hours, and the patient was discharged in a fully recovered state at the 24-hour mark.

Cotinine, a metabolite of nicotine, is considered the most sensitive and specific biomarker for assessing nicotine exposure. It can be measured in blood, saliva, or urine and has a longer half-life than nicotine (13). However, studies in the literature have shown that cotinine levels do not always correlate with clinical presentation. This discrepancy may be due to the varied causes of nicotine intoxication or liver damage in severe cases affecting nicotine metabolism (10). Additionally, cotinine levels can increase with chronic exposure, meaning that elevated levels do not necessarily indicate acute intoxication. Therefore, routine cotinine measurement in acute poisonings remains debatable (9). There is no specific antidote for Maras Powder/ nicotine toxicity. Treatment is primarily symptomatic and supportive. The first priority is to secure the airway and provide respiratory support. Atropine is used to manage parasympathetic symptoms such as excessive salivation, wheezing, and bradycardia. In cases of severe poisoning, endotracheal intubation may be required for airway protection and ventilation support. Seizures should be treated with benzodiazepines. Hypotension is initially managed with fluid boluses and 0.9% NaCl infusion; if unresponsive to volume resuscitation, a vasopressor such as norepinephrine should be administered. Cardiac arrhythmias should be treated according to standard advanced cardiac life support (ACLS) protocols. Nicotine elimination is accelerated in acidic urine, but due to the risks outweighing the benefits, this method is not recommended (9,14). Oral rinsing with water may be advised upon initial presentation. In pediatric patients or cases involving suicidal ingestion of Maras Powder, gastric lavage and activated charcoal administration within the first hours may be beneficial (15). However, in adult intoxication cases, nicotine absorption occurs primarily through the oral mucosa, making these interventions therapeutically ineffective. In our case, due to the patient's agitation upon arrival, intravenous administration of 5 mg midazolam was required.

Conclusion

This case report is, to our knowledge, the only documented case of a smokeless tobacco product or Maras Powder intoxication in the adult population in the literature. Given the broad clinical spectrum of Maras Powderrelated intoxication, it should be considered with a high index of suspicion in regions where this product or similar productsare commonly used, and patient history should be carefully assessed. Further research is needed to determine the exact amount of Maras Powder consumption that leads to intoxication, its effects on nicotine and metabolite levels, and the rate at which these changes occur. Additionally, studies should investigate the potential impact of other components in Maras Powder, such as wood ash, on nicotine metabolism.

References

- Tanriverdi G. Dumansız Tütün Maraş Otunun Sağlığa Zararları: Geleneksel Derleme. Halk Sagligi Hemsire Derg. 2022;4(3):284-92.
- Erenmemisoglu A, Tekol Y, Kartal M, Kurucu S. Smokeless tobacco use in our country "Maras powder." Doga Turk J Med Sci. 1992;16:867-76. Turkish.
- Buyukbese MA, Ozdemir M, Celik MM, Ozisler C, Turgut H, Arslan E, et al. Effects of smokeless tobacco "Maras powder" use on respiratory functions. Tohoku J Exp Med. 2004;204(3):173-8.
- Goolsby MJ. Smokeless tobacco: the health consequences of snuff and chewing tobacco. Nurse Pract. 1992;17(1):24-31.
- Akbay C, Kafas A. Kahramanmaraş il merkezinde tüketicilerin sigara ve Maraş otu kullanımını etkileyen faktörlerin analizi. KSU Dog Bilim Derg. 2017;20(3):276-82. Turkish.
- 6. Irmak İ, Ozgur ES, Aydemir YC, Celik MM, Akkurt B, Arslan E, et al. Comparison of the effects of smoking and smokeless tobacco "Maras Powder" use on pulmonary function, electrocardiogram, and other parameters. Eur Arch Med Res. 2019;35(4):233-41.
- Güneş H, Sarışık N. Maraş Otu İntoksikasyonu ile kliniğimize başvuran çocuk olguların değerlendirilmesi. Mersin Univ Tip Fak Lokman Hekim Tip Tarihi Folklorik Tip Derg. 2020;10(3):495-501. Turkish.
- Maessen GC, Wijnhoven AM, van Beek AJ, de Vries I, de Groot RE. Nicotine intoxication by e-cigarette liquids: a study of case reports and pathophysiology. Clin Toxicol (Phila). 2020;58(1):1-8. doi:10.1080/15563650.2019.1636994.

- Goldfrank LR, Flomenbaum NE, editors. Goldfrank's Clinical Manual of Toxicologic Emergencies. 2nd ed. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1998. p. 436-9.
- 10. Scarpino M, Rosso T, Lanzo G, Lolli F, Bonizzoli M, Lazzeri C, et al. Severe neurological nicotine intoxication by e-cigarette liquids: systematic literature review. Acta Neurol Scand. 2021;143(2):121-30.
- Maclaskey DC, Buchholz MC, Hodges K, Bourgeois JA. Case report: delirium associated with excessive consumption of nicotine gum. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2022;42(3):327-9. doi:10.1097/JCP.000000000001537.
- Benowitz NL, Jacob P 3rd. Nicotine and cotinine elimination pharmacokinetics in smokers and nonsmokers. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1993;53(3):316-23. doi:10.1038/clpt.1993.27.
- **13.** Benowitz NL. Biomarkers of environmental tobacco smoke exposure. Environ Health Perspect. 1999;107 Suppl 2:349-55. doi:10.1289/ehp.99107s2349.
- **14.** Kim JW, Baum CR. Liquid nicotine toxicity. Pediatr Emerg Care. 2015;31(7):517-21. doi:10.1097/PEC.000000000000486.
- **15.** Hulzebos CV, Kuiper JR, van der Linde JA, Brand R, Kuis W, Heymans HS. Accidental ingestion of cigarettes by children. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd. 1998;142(47):2569-71. Dutch.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

Single Dose Metformin-Induced Severe Metabolic Acidosis

Kemal Şener¹,
İnan Beydilli¹,
Tamer Çolak¹,
Adem Çakır²,
Giray Altunok¹,
Raşit Baysal¹,
Ertuğrul Altuğ³
¹Department of Emergence Medicine, Republic of Turkey, Mersin City Hospital, Mersin, Türkiye
²Department of Emergency Medicine, Ministry of Health of Turkey; Canakkale Mehmet Akif Ersoy State Hospital, Canakkale, Türkiye
³Department of Emergence Medicine, Republic of Turkey, Ministry of Healthy Başaksehir Cam and Sakura State Hospital, Istanbul, Türkiye

Abstract

Metformin, a member of the biguanide family, is one of the most widely used drugs in the treatment of diabetes worldwide. It was first commercialized in 1957, and its use has steadily increased since then. Metformin is recommended as the first pharmacological agent in the treatment of type 2 diabetes. 29-year-old female patient presented to our emergency department due to nausea and vomiting. In her history, she denied diarrhea, urinary symptoms suggestive of urinary tract infection, ingestion of any unusual food, use of any other medications or substances, and reported spending the entire day at home. Upon presentation, the patient was in good general condition, awake, alert, and cooperative. Vital signs were as follows: arterial blood pressure 110/70 mmHg, pulse rate 78 beats/ min, respiratory rate 19 breaths/min, oxygen saturation 98%, and body temperature 36.5°C. Physical examination did not reveal any pathological findings. Recently, metformin has been used for weight loss as well as for therapeutic purposes. It is seen that even a single dose of metformin can cause serious side effects. People who use metformin both within and outside the indication should be careful.

Keywords: Lactic acidosis, MALA, metformin, single dose

Introduction

Metformin, a member of the biguanide family, is one of the most widely used drugs in the treatment of diabetes worldwide (1). It was first commercialized in 1957, and its use has steadily increased since then. Metformin is recommended as the first pharmacological agent in the treatment of type 2 diabetes. There is even literature suggesting its use in patients with prediabetes (2). Additionally, it is used to reduce insulin resistance in gestational diabetes and pregnant women with type 2 diabetes (3). However, the American Diabetes Association does not recommend its use as firstline therapy due to its feto-placental transfer (4). Metformin acts through various mechanisms aimed at reducing serum glucose, including increasing insulin sensitivity, antagonizing gluconeogenesis, and enhancing intracellular glucose uptake. However, it also has several significant side effects, including gastrointestinal symptoms (nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea), increased lactate production, decreased lactate clearance, and the potential to induce acidosis (5). Metformin-associated lactic acidosis (MALA) emerges as a cause of high mortality and morbidity (6). MALA occurs in the presence of conditions such as kidney

injury, a history of liver or heart failure, or in cases of shock, acute or chronic medical comorbidities (7). Hyperlactatemia arises through several mechanisms. Metformin levels above the therapeutic dose lead to the inhibition of complex 1 in the mitochondrial respiratory chain, resulting in impaired oxidative phosphorylation. Metformin also inhibits pyruvate carboxylase, leading to reduced pyruvate metabolism and increased conversion of pyruvate to lactate. Impaired oxidative phosphorylation and pyruvate utilization result in decreased ATP production. This situation leads to increased AMP levels, which affect the inhibition of fructose-1,6bisphosphatase, a rate-limiting enzyme in gluconeogenesis. Impaired gluconeogenesis results in decreased hepatic clearance of lactate. Additionally, metformin inhibits glucose-6-phosphatase, disrupting glycogenolysis. Decreased gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis, reliance on glycolysis, and increased glucose utilization can trigger hypoglycemia observed in some MALA cases (8-10).

Our literature review revealed numerous cases of metabolic acidosis due to metformin overdose or secondary causes such as renal dysfunction and sepsis. However, no case of profound metabolic acidosis due to a single dose of metformin was found in the literature. In this case, we

Corresponding Author: Kemal Şener e-mail: drkemalsener@hotmail.com Received: 28.01.2025 • Revision: 01.03.2025 • Accepted: 28.03.2025 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1628492 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey - Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Sener K, Beydilli İ, Çolak T, Cakir A, Altunok G, Baysal R, Altuğ E. Single Dose Metformin-Induced Severe Metabolic Acidosis. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2025;16(2): 70-73 aim to highlight the potential for profound lactic acidosis in patients using a single dose of metformin and contribute to the literature. Necessary consents were obtained from the patient for this case report, and they were adequately informed about the process.

Case Report

29-year-old female patient presented to our emergency department due to nausea and vomiting. In her history, she denied diarrhea, urinary symptoms suggestive of urinary tract infection, ingestion of any unusual food, use of any other medications or substances, and reported spending the entire day at home. Upon presentation, the patient was in good general condition, awake, alert, and cooperative. Vital signs were as follows: arterial blood pressure 110/70 mmHg, pulse rate 78 beats/min, respiratory rate 19 breaths/min, oxygen saturation 98%, and body temperature 36.5°C. Physical examination did not reveal any pathological findings.

The patient had no chronic illnesses or surgical history other than cesarean section. She did not take any regular medications. Symptom-directed treatment was initiated after physical examination (intravenous infusion of 500 ml saline containing 40 mg pantoprazole and 4 mg ondansetron), and blood tests were requested. Before the test results were fully available, the patient expressed a desire to be discharged due to clinical improvement. After receiving appropriate information, the patient left the hospital. Laboratory results of the patient's application are given in Table-1. Venous blood gas analysis performed upon arrival showed pH 7.45, PCO₂ 27 mmHg, HCO₃ 18.4 mmol/L, and lactate level 4.9 mmol/L.

Later the same day (approximately 8 hours later), the patient was brought back to the emergency department via emergency medical services with decreased level of consciousness. Paramedics reported administering 50 mg intravenous dextrose due to a blood sugar level of 30 mg/ dL. The patient was evaluated while dextrose infusion continued. On repeat physical examination, the Glasgow Coma Scale was 8, indicating decreased orientation and cooperation. Apart from this, no pathological findings were observed on examination. Vital signs at arrival were arterial blood pressure 90/50 mmHg, pulse rate 98 beats/min, respiratory rate 25 breaths/min, oxygen saturation 99%, and

body temperature 36.5°C. Electrocardiography revealed normal sinus rhythm.

Following dextrose therapy, the patient's blood sugar levels rose, consciousness improved, and orientation and cooperation began to normalize, reaching a Glasgow Coma Scale of 15 after some time. Venous blood gas analysis performed upon arrival showed pH 6.96, PCO₂ 22 mmHg, HCO₃ 4.7 mmol/L, lactate level 15.6 mmol/L, and blood sugar level 33 mg/dL. Thirty minutes after regaining consciousness, repeat blood gas analysis showed worsening metabolic acidosis and increased lactate levels. Based on the patient's history and investigations, toxicological evaluation was initiated.

According to the patient's history, she had taken a single 1000 mg metformin tablet before breakfast that morning with the intention of losing weight. Apart from this, there was no history of alcohol or herbal medicine use, suicidal attempts, or ingestion of any other substances. During follow-up, venous blood gas analysis results were obtained (Table-2). Hourly urine output was normal, and renal function tests were within normal limits. Urine analysis was negative for ketones and showed no signs of infection. Serum ethanol and paracetamol levels were negative. Brain computed tomography did not reveal any pathology explaining the patient's altered mental status. Apart from metformin use, no other etiological cause was identified, and metformin-induced severe metabolic acidosis was considered primary in the etiology of deep metabolic acidosis.

Due to ongoing metabolic acidosis and lactic acidosis during follow-up, the patient received a 50 mEq sodium bicarbonate (Na⁺ HCO₃) bolus and maintenance therapy at 20 mEq/hour. Additionally, she received hourly 500 cc saline infusion and 100 cc/hour 5% dextrose infusion. Preparation for hemodialysis began due to the possibility of persistent severe metabolic acidosis. However, as the acidosis began to decrease with medical treatment, hemodialysis was deferred upon normalization of blood gas parameters at the 8th hour of admission.

The patient remained stable during the 12-hour observation period in the emergency department, with stable vital signs and normalization of blood gas parameters. Subsequently, she was admitted to the internal medicine service for further monitoring and investigations. On the 2nd day of hospitalization, no additional etiological cause was found, and the patient was discharged in good condition.

Table 1: Laboratory results of the patient at the time of first admission

WBC	HBG	PLT	Glukoz	Üre	Cr	ALT	AST	Na ⁺
5,54	11,4	263	80	24	1,0	15	34	140
\mathbf{K}^{+}	Cl	Amilaz	Lipaz	GGT	CRP	Aptt	INR	HsTrop
5,0	111	51	29	12	0,39	18	1,09	Negatif

WBC: Leukocyte (x10³/mm³); HGB: Hemoglobin (mg/dL); PLT: Platelet (x10³/mm³); Glucose, Urea (mg/dL); Cr: Creatinine (mg/dL); ALT: Alanine transaminase (IU/L); AST: Aspartate transaminase (IU/L); Na⁺: Sodium (mEq/L); K⁺: Potassium (mEq/L); CI: Chlorine (mEq/L); Amylase, Lipase (IU/L); GGT: Gamma Glutamyl transferase (IU/L); CRP: C-reactive protein (mg/dL); INR: International Normalized Rate; HsTrop: High sensitivity troponin

Parametre	1. Admission	2. Admission	 Admission 30th min 	 Admission 60th min 	2. Admission 2 nd h	2. Admission 4 th h	2. Admission 8 th h	2. Admission 12 th h
pН	7.45	6.95	6.75	6.84	6.97	7.11	7.42	7.45
PCO ₂ (mmHg)	27	22.2	21	30.9	35	30	28.7	27
HCO ₃ (mmol/L)	18.4	4.7	4.1	5.1	7.9	14	18.2	19.3
Laktate(mmol/L)	4.8	15.8	20.8	22.3	19.9	8.2	4.9	3.3
Na ⁺ (mmol/L)	141	146	143	142	143	140	138	139
K ⁺ (mmol/L)	4.1	4.1	4.0	4.5	5.1	4.2	3.5	3.6
Cl ⁻ (mmol/L)	108	116	111	103	102	104	101	100
Glukoz (mg/dL)	80	33	115	272	279	185	176	124

Table 2: Venous blood gas follow-up results of the patient

PCO₂: Partial Carbon Dioxide; HCO₃: Bicarbonate; Na⁺: Sodium (mEq/L); K⁺: Potassium (mEq/L); CI⁻: Chlorine (mEq/L); min: Minute; h: Hour

Discussion

MALA is a rare complication of metformin use. In the literature, it is often associated with high single doses or therapeutic doses in patients with renal or hepatic dysfunction (11,12). Lactic acidosis in patients taking metformin can occur in three different clinical scenarios: metformin-induced, metformin-associated, and unrelated to metformin (13). In cases of metformin-induced lactic acidosis, symptoms typically manifest within 6-12 hours after ingestion, and hemodialysis is considered the gold standard treatment in cases involving renal insufficiency or overdose (14).

In our case, the patient took a single therapeutic dose of metformin without any renal impairment, thus treatment did not require hemodialysis. However, hemodialysis would have been considered if there had been no improvement in severe metabolic acidosis. Considering metformin's halflife of 18 hours, the patient's recovery period aligns with this timeframe (15). Mild compensated metabolic lactic acidosis was observed in our patient during the initial presentation. History of alcohol and substance use was negative, and no chronic illnesses or regular medication use were reported. During the second presentation, the presence of severe metabolic acidosis, elevated lactate levels, and hypoglycemia supports the clinical association with metformin. Therefore, clinicians should consider that even a single therapeutic dose can lead to severe metabolic and lactic acidosis in cases presenting with severe metabolic acidosis (16).

This case presentation could serve as an important guide indicating that even a single dose of metformin can induce severe metabolic acidosis in patients. However, a significant limitation of our study is the inability to measure metformin levels in the patient.

Conclusion

Recently, metformin has been used for weight loss as well as for treatment purposes. It is seen that metformin is not a very innocent drug and even a single dose of metformin can cause serious side effects. People who use metformin both on and off-label should be careful. It should not be forgotten that life-threatening side effects may occur.

Patient consent form-Ethics

The case report has written in an anonymous characteristic, thus secret and detailed data about the patient has removed.

Referanslar

- Di Mauro S, Filippello A, Scamporrino A, Purrello F, Piro S, Malaguarnera R. Metformin: When Should We Fear Lactic Acidosis? Int J Mol Sci. 2022 Jul 28;23(15):8320. doi: 10.3390/ ijms23158320.
- Aroda VR, Knowler WC, Crandall JP, Perreault L, Edelstein SL, Jeffries SL, et al. Metformin for Diabetes Prevention: Insights Gained from the Diabetes Prevention Program/Diabetes Prevention Program Outcomes Study. Diabetologia. 2017;60:1601–1611. doi: 10.1007/ s00125-017-4361-9.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Diabetes in Pregnancy: Management from Preconception to the Postnatal Period. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE); London, UK: 2020. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence: Guidelines.
- American Diabetes Association Professional Practice Committee 15. Management of Diabetes in Pregnancy: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2022. Diabetes Care. 2022;45:S232–S243. doi: 10.2337/dc22-S015.
- Dyatlova N, Tobarran NV, Kannan L, North R, Wills BK. Metformin-Associated Lactic Acidosis (MALA). 2023 Apr 17. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024 Jan–. PMID: 35593810.
- **6.** Graham GG, Punt J, Arora M, Day RO, Doogue MP, Duong JK, et al. Clinical pharmacokinetics of metformin. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2011 Feb;50(2):81-98.
- Calello DP, Liu KD, Wiegand TJ, Roberts DM, Lavergne V, Gosselin S, et al. Extracorporeal Treatment for Metformin Poisoning: Systematic Review and Recommendations From

the Extracorporeal Treatments in Poisoning Workgroup. Crit Care Med. 2015 Aug;43(8):1716-30.

- 8. Wang GS, Hoyte C. Review of Biguanide (Metformin) Toxicity. J Intensive Care Med. 2019 Nov-Dec;34(11-12):863-876
- **9.** Hunter RW, Hughey CC, Lantier L, Sundelin El, Peggie M, Zeqiraj E, et al. Metformin reduces liver glucose production by inhibition of fructose-1-6-bisphosphatase. Nat Med. 2018 Sep;24(9):1395-1406.
- 10. Al-Abri SA, Hayashi S, Thoren KL, Olson KR. Metformin overdose-induced hypoglycemia in the absence of other antidiabetic drugs. Clin Toxicol (Phila). 2013 Jun;51(5):444-7.
- Seidowsky A, Nseir S, Houdret N, Fourrier F. Metforminassociated lactic acidosis: a prognostic and therapeutic study. Crit Care Med. 2009 Jul;37(7):2191-6. doi: 10.1097/ CCM.0b013e3181a02490. PMID: 19487945.
- Peake KN, Tessier S, Longo S, Stahlnecker DM, Idahosa O, Zanders T, et al. Metformin toxicity in the intensive care unit:

A case series and review of the literature. Int J Crit Illn Inj Sci. 2024 Jan-Mar;14(1):51-58. doi: 10.4103/ijciis.ijciis_46_23. Epub 2024 Mar 27. PMID: 38715749; PMCID: PMC11073643

- **13.** Theobald J, Schneider J, Cheema N, DesLauriers C. Time to development of metformin-associated lactic acidosis. Clin Toxicol (Phila) 2020;58:758–62.
- **14.** Reynolds HV, Pollock HH, Apte YV, Tabah A. Achieving high dialysis dose via continuous renal replacement therapy in the setting of metformin associated lactic acidosis: A case series. A A Pract. 2022;16:e01561.
- **15.** Wang GS, Hoyte C. Review of Biguanide (Metformin) Toxicity. J Intensive Care Med. 2019 Nov-Dec;34(11-12):863-876.
- 16. Sener K, Arslan B, Ozselcuk S, Guven R. Resistant Lactic Acidemia Due to Accidental Cheese Starter Culture Ingestion. American Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2022;60: 228.e1-228.e2.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

Hair-Thread Tourniquet Syndrome: A Case Report

Furkan Tayiz¹, Whammet Gökhan Turtay¹, Whatafa Çifçi¹, Emirhan Ünlü¹ Emergency Medicine Clinic of Konya City Hospital, Konya, Türkiye

Abstract

Hair-thread tourniquet syndrome (HTTS) is a rare condition that occurs when hair strands wrap around body appendages, potentially leading to serious complications such as tissue loss. In this case report, we aim to present an HTTS case identified in a 2-year-old male child who presented to the emergency department with penile pain and dysuria. A two-year-old male patient presented to the emergency department with complaints of penile pain, redness, and burning sensation during urination that had persisted for 24 hours. Physical examination revealed edema, erythema, and circular constriction on the penile shaft. Detailed examination showed a hair strand wrapped around the penis shaft. The hair was removed by cutting under local anesthesia. Doppler ultrasonography confirmed normal circulation. The patient was discharged after four hours of observation as his complaints subsided. In infants with unexplained restlessness, one should be cautious about HTTS, and it should not be forgotten that areas where this syndrome may occur should be carefully examined.

Keywords: Hair-thread tourniquet syndrome, pediatric emergency, penis

Introduction

Hair-thread tourniquet syndrome (HTTS) is a rare, preventable condition that occurs when a body appendage is tightly wrapped with a hair strand or thread-like material, resulting in circulatory disturbance. It typically affects the genital area, fingers, and toes. Hair tourniquet syndrome, which occurs when hair or hair-like material becomes entangled around the coronal sulcus of the penis, is characterized by progressive circulatory disturbance. This condition can lead to serious complications, including glans necrosis. Other risk factors contributing to the development of the syndrome include circumcision, wearing tight clothing, poor hygiene, and low socioeconomic status. Early diagnosis and treatment of HTTS is vital because delayed diagnosis can result in serious complications such as ischemia, tissue necrosis, and even auto-amputation. However, complete recovery is possible with early diagnosis and appropriate treatment (1-3). In this case report, we aimed to present a rare case of hair tourniquet syndrome in a child who presented with penile pain, redness, and dysuria complaints.

Case Report

A 2-year-old male patient was brought to the emergency department by his mother with complaints of penile pain,

redness, and burning sensation during urination. According to his history, the complaints started approximately 24 hours ago, gradually intensified, and his restlessness increased in the last few hours. The patient had no significant medical history and no recent history of infection or trauma.

On physical examination; the patient was in good general condition, conscious, oriented, and cooperative. His vital signs were measured as follows; body temperature: 36.8°C, pulse: 98/min, respiratory rate: 22/min, blood pressure: 95/60 mmHg, oxygen saturation: 99%. Significant edema, erythema, and circular constriction were detected on the penile shaft. Detailed examination revealed the presence of a single hair strand completely encircling the penile shaft (Figure-1). The patient was diagnosed with hair-thread tourniquet syndrome. Under local anesthesia, the hair strand was carefully cut and removed using a scalpel and clamp. Post-procedure evaluation showed no signs of deep cuts or necrosis in the penile tissue. Doppler ultrasonography performed to assess circulation showed normal blood flow.

The patient was kept under observation in the emergency department for 4 hours after the procedure. During this time, significant improvement in pain and restlessness was observed. The patient, who developed no problems during the follow-up period and had normal urinary output, was discharged with necessary recommendations given to the family.

Corresponding Author: Muhammet Gökhan Turtay e-mail: mgturtay@gmail.com Received: 21.03.2025 • Revision: 07.04.2025 • Accepted: 08.04.2025 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1662207 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey -Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Tayiz F, Turtay MG, Çiftçi M, Ünlü E. Hair-Thread Tourniquet Syndrome: A Case Report. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2025;16(2): 74-75



Figure 1. A single strand of hair completely surrounding the shaft of the penis

Discussion

Hair-thread tourniquet syndrome (HTTS) is an important clinical condition that particularly occurs in the newborn and infant period and can lead to serious complications if not diagnosed early. (4)

This syndrome is particularly seen in newborns and young children, and the affected anatomical regions vary according to age. In approximately 44.2% of cases reported in the literature, the penis is affected, in 40.2% the toes, and in 8.6% the fingers. When analyzed by age groups, fingers are generally affected up to 1.5 years of age, penis between 4 months and 6 years, and the genital area between 7-13 years (3). In our case, consistent with these data in the literature, penile hair tourniquet syndrome was observed in a 2-year-old male child.

Risk factors for the syndrome include telogen effluvium in postpartum mothers, poor hygiene conditions, low socioeconomic status, and tight clothing (5). Knowledge of these risk factors and informing families about them is important in taking preventive measures. Careful examination of extremities and the genital area, especially in the newborn period, is vital for early diagnosis. In our case, the family was of foreign nationality, had low income, and poor hygiene conditions.

Treatment approaches vary depending on the affected area and degree of tissue damage. Non-surgical methods include depilatory creams, mineral oil application, and hair/thread dissolving solutions, while advanced cases may require longitudinal incision or surgical removal of the tourniquet material (4, 6). Although the prognosis is generally good with early diagnosis and appropriate treatment, serious complications such as ischemia, tissue necrosis, auto-amputation, and secondary infections can be seen in delayed cases (5). In our case, successful treatment was achieved without any complications due to early diagnosis and appropriate intervention.

HTTS shows that it is not sufficiently recognized by physicians due to its rare occurrence, and therefore delays in diagnosis and treatment may occur. (1) Especially in pediatric patients presenting with unexplained genital pain and restlessness, keeping this syndrome in mind and performing careful physical examination is critically important. Early diagnosis and treatment in HTTS is crucial to prevent complications. If cases are not appropriately treated in a timely manner, serious clinical conditions such as finger, penis, or clitoris amputation may develop (2).

Conclusion

In infants with unexplained restlessness, one should be cautious about HTTS, and it should not be forgotten that areas where this syndrome may occur should be carefully examined.

References

- Arkoubi AY, Salati SA. Hair-Thread Tourniquet Syndrome: A Comprehensive Review. Cureus 2024;16(5):e60832.
- Sivathasan N, Vijayarajan L. Hair-thread tourniquet syndrome: a case report and literature review. Case Rep Med2012;2012:171368.
- Mat Saad AZ, Purcell EM, McCann JJ. Hair-thread tourniquet syndrome in an infant with bony erosion: a case report, literature review, and meta-analysis. Ann Plast Surg 2006;57(4):447-52.
- Annattah S, Haita A, Andaloussi S, El Madi A. Penile Tourniquet Syndrome by Hair in Children: Case Report. Asian J Case Rep Surg 2024;7(1):165-9.
- Booth J, Morse T. Hair toe tourniquets: a review of two case studies. Emergency nurse 2018;26(2):31-5.
- Kudzinskas A, Reed A, Mahdi M, Tyler M. Evaluation of Depilatory Agents in the Treatment of Hair-Thread Tourniquet Syndrome. J Emerg Med 2021;61(5):507-16.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

Bilateral Occipital Condyle Fracture with Clivus Fracture: Case Report

💿 Birol Özkal^ı

¹Department of Neurosurgery, Medical Faculty, Alaaddin Keykubat University, Alanya, Antalya, Türkiye

Abstract

Occipital condyle and clivus fractures caused by trauma are rare injuries that are difficult to diagnose. Only a few publications have reported cases involving both fractures. With the widespread use of high-resolution computed tomography in recent years, the diagnosis of these fractures has become more feasible; however, their clinical presentation and treatment approach remain uncertain for clinicians. The concurrent occurrence of occipital condyle and clivus fractures has recently been incorporated in to the Anderson and Montesano classification system for occipital condyle fractures. In this paper, we aim to discuss the clinical presentation and treatment strategies of a 39-year-old female patient who was brought to our hospital with bilateral occipital condyle and transverse clivus fractures following a pedestrian traffic accident, in light of the existing literature.

Keywords: Clivus, fracture, occipital condyle

Introduction

Traumatic injuries of the skull base are rare but have high mortality rates. Occipital condyle fractures have been recognized as complex and poorly understood lesions by clinicians since they were first described by Bell in 1817. Fractures of the occipital condyle and clivus are uncommon and difficult to diagnose. They may be overlooked in routine X-rays and computed tomography (CT) scans (1).

Clinically, due to the numerous neural and vascular structures located at the craniocervical junction, these fractures may present with various symptoms and are associated with high mortality rates (1,2). Diagnosis is generally established in patients with brain stem findings, rhinorrhea, orthrough post-mortem examinations. However, the coexistence of these lesions has been reported in only a fewcases (3-9). In patients with high-velocity head and cervical trauma, careful evaluation of this region facilitates the diagnosis of occipital condyle and clivus fractures (2). With the recent widespread use of high-resolution and 3D CT imaging, the number of reported cases has increased (9).

In this paper, we present a rare case of bilateral occipital condyle fracture complicated by an inferior transverse clivus fracture, which has recently been added to the classification of occipital condyle fractures. Including our case, a total

online at www.iemcr.com

of eight concomitant clivus and occipital condyle fractures have been reported in the literature to date (8). These types of fractures necessitate intricate clinical decision-making and are challenging to diagnose. This study aims to discuss the clinical presentation and treatment approaches of this rare fracture combination in light of the existing literature.

Case Report

A 39-year-old female patient, who sustained injuries due to a high-energy pedestrian traffic accident, was brought to the emergency department with assisted ventilation using an ambu bag and secured with a philadelphia cervical collar. Upon initial examination, the patient was unconscious (GCS: 3) and was immediately intubated. A blunt scalp laceration approximately 5 cm in diameter was noted on the left side of the vertex, and the patient's vital signs were stabilized.

High-resolution CT revealed an acute subdural hematoma in the left parietal region and extensive subarachnoid hemorrhage (Figure-1). Following high-resolution CT imaging and 3D reconstruction, fractures extending to both occipital condyles and involving the clivus were identified (Figures-2, 3, 4, and 5). The patient also had fractures of the left hand and ankle, for which orthopedic specialists applied a splint.

Corresponding Author: Birol Özkal e-mail: birolozkal@gmail.com Received: 17.03.2025 • Revision: 25.04.2025 • Accepted: 28.04.2025 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1660020 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey - Available **Cite this article as:** Özkal B. Bilateral Occipital Condyle Fracture with Clivus Fracture: Case Report. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2025;16(2): 76-79



Figure 1. Axial brain CT showing a subdural hematoma located in the left parietal region



Figure 2. Sagittal brain CT demonstrating a transverse fracture of the clivus (white arrow)



Figure 3. Coronal CT scan showing a postoperative left parietal craniectomy defect and fractures of both occipital condyles (white arrows)

Due to the acute subdural hematoma, the patient underwent emergency surgery, and the hematoma was evacuated via left parietal craniectomy (Figure-3). Postoperatively, the patient was transferred to the intensive care unit with a rigid cervical collar and placed on mechanical ventilation. Cerebral anti-edema therapy was initiated. At the 65th hour of hospitalization, the patient developed cardiac arrhythmias, followed by hypotension and circulatory arrest, ultimately leading to death.



Figure 4. High-resolution 3D reconstructed CT image showing a fracture line extending from the clivus to both occipital condyles when viewed from the internal surface of the cranium (white arrow)



Figure 5. High-resolution 3D reconstructed CT image showing occipital condyle and clivus fractures when viewed from a posterior perspective inside the cranium (white arrow)

Discussion

The simultaneous occurrence of bilateral occipital condyle and clivus fracturesis rare (1). Occipital condyle fractures are difficult to diagnose. High-resolution reconstructed CT imaging is considered the gold standard for diagnosis (9,10). The shape of the fracture, its extent, the degree of displacement, and its impact on treatment planning are crucial factors. The routine use of multi-slice CT in recent years has led to an increase in reported cases of occipital condyle fractures. MRI is of limited value in evaluating the functional integrity of the upper cervical ligamentous complex, as it is hindered by surrounding bone edema and hematoma (11). Although flexion-extension cervical radiographs can indicate occipitocervical instability, this method carries significant risks.

To date, seven cases of concomitant clivus and occipital condyle fractures have been reported in the literature; here, we present the eighth case (3-8).

Occipital condyle fractures are generally classified according to the Anderson and Montesano system,

specifically under type III (12). However, the underlying mechanism of combined occipital condyle and clivus fractures remains unclear (3,11). In 2022, Carriço et al. proposed a four thtype of occipital condyle fracture, suggesting that these injuries result from axial loading and compression mechanisms. Based on the patient's accident video, clinical evaluation, and scene reconstruction, we believe that a blunt force impact on the left side of the vertex caused axial loading, leading to fractures of both the clivus and occipital condyles. Carriço et al. classified occipital condyle fractures associated with clivus avulsion fractures as Type IV A, while fractures involving occipital condyle fractures with comminuted fractures of the lower clivus were designated as Type IV B. Both Type IV injuries are considered highly unstable (1). Based on this classification, we categorized our patient's injury as Type IV B.

Since occipital condyle fractures are infrequently diagnosed, no widely accepted treatment guidelines exist (9,11). Treatment generally involves either external immobilization with devices such as cervical collars or surgical stabilization. Patients with bilateral occipital condyle fractures and concomitant clivus fractures have a higher risk of craniocervical instability, which increases mortality risk. This suggests that more rigid fixation techniques may be necessary (3). Carriço et al. advocated surgical fixation for both Type IV A and IV B injuries (1). However, among the previously reported seven cases, three were treated surgically and three were managed with conservative methods. One case was diagnosed post-mortem (3-8). At the craniovertebral junction, stabilization is supported not only by the bony structures but also by the occipital condyle joint capsules, alar ligaments, and the tectorial membrane. When ligamentous integrity is preserved, external immobilization is generally considered sufficient to ensure stability. In the three cases managed conservatively, treatment involved halo or cervical collar immobilization for upto 14-16 weeks. Fluoroscopy-guided traction testing is recommended to determine the appropriate timing for terminating conservative treatment (8,9). No standardized surgical approach exists for operative cases. Surgical options range from occipital-C1-C2 fusion to C1 laminectomy without fusion, which has been reported as a successful treatment approach (11). In our case, a rigid cervical orthosis was applied; however, the patient unfortunately passed away before the assessment of craniovertebral junction integrity could be completed.

Occipital condyle and clivus fractures carry significant morbidity and mortality risks. The mortality rate for occipital condyle fractures has been reported as 16.1%, while that for clivus fractures reaches upto 80% (3,13). These injuries can lead to fatal outcomes due to brain stem trauma, cranial nevre deficits, and vertebrobasilar vascular injuries (9). Imamura et al. reported a case of a 25-year-old patient who sustained trauma in a motor vehicle accident. Post-mortem examination revealed bilateral occipital condyle fractures extending into the lower clivus. The authors attributed the patient's death to associated medullaoblongata and basilar artery injuries (14). Similarly, we believe that our patient's fatal outcome resulted from brain stem edema secondary to vertebrobasilar injury.

Conclusion

In patients who sustain high-energy axial trauma, the concurrent presence of occipital condyle and clivus fractures should be considered. High-resolution computed tomography and 3D reconstruction imaging are recommended for definitive diagnosis. Early diagnosis and appropriate treatment planning for such fractures, which may lead to craniocervical instability, can be life-saving. The choice between conservative and surgical treatment should be determined based on the patient's overall condition and the stability of thelesion.

References

- Carriço G, Lam KS. A newtype of occipital condyle fractures

 a case report and revision of literature is presented. Ann Sports MedRes 2022;9(1): 1186.
- Akar Ö, Yaldiz C, Özdemir N, Yaman O, Dalbayrak S. Isolated transverse clivus fracture without neurodeficit: case report and review of literature. Pol J Radiol 2015;19(80):151-154.
- Dashti R, Ulu MO, Albayram S, Aydin S, Ulusoy L, Hanci M. Concomitant fracture of bilateral occipital condyle and inferior clivus: what is the mechanism of injury? Eur Spine J 2007;16(3):261-264.
- Fuentes S, Bouillot P, Dufour H, Grisoli F. Occipital condyle fractures and clivus epidural hematoma. Case report. Neurochirurgie. 2000;46(6):563–567.
- Jones DN, Knox AM, Sage MR. Traumatic avulsion fracture of the occipital condyles and clivus with associated unilateral atlantooccipital distraction. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 1990;11(6):1181–1183.
- Maughan PH, Horn EM, Theodore N, Feiz-Erfan I, Sonntag VK. Avulsion fracture of the foramen magnum treated with occiput-to-c1 fusion: technical case report. Neurosurgery. 2005;57(3):E600. doi: 10.1227/01.neu.0000170989.90325.04.
- Tanabe M, Watanabe T, Matsumoto S, Okamoto H, Shirakashi K. Avulsion fracture of the anterior half of the foramen magnum involving the bilateral occipital condyles and the inferior clivus-case report. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo) 1999;39(5):358–361. doi: 10.2176/nmc.39.358.
- Persad AR, Liu E, Wu A, Fourney DR. Bilateral occipital condyle fracture with an avulsion fracture of the foramen magnum: nonoperative care guided by a traction test. Illustrative case. J Neurosurg Case Lessons. 2023;6(25):CASE23577. doi: 10.3171/CASE23577.
- 9. Lam KS, Carriço G, Fernandes FM, Nanni F, de La Torre Escobar C. A rare case of bilateral occipital condyle fractures associated with inferior clivus separation fracture resulting in

craniocervical dislocation: a case report and modification of the Anderson and Montesano classification is proposed. Acta Neurochir 2021; 163:2307-2311.

- **10.** Ucler N, Yucetas SC. Occipital condyle fracture extending to the inferior part of the clivus. Pediatr Neurosurg 2018;53(4):282-285.
- **11.** Chan JL, Cohen JD, Rahman SU, Perry TG, Tuchman A. Motion preserving management of unstable traumatic clivus fracture extending through bilateral occipital condyles. J Clin Neurosci 2020;80:257-260.
- Anderson PA, Montesano PX. Morphology and treatment of occipital condyle fractures. Spine (PhilaPa 1976) 1988;13:731-736.
- **13.** Mueller FJ, Fuechtmeier B, Kinner B, Rosskopf M, Neumann C, Nerlich M, et al. Occipital condyle fractures. Prospective follow-up of 31 cases within 5 years at a level 1 trauma centre. Eur Spine J 2012;21(2):289-94.
- 14. Imamura O, Kojima T, Yashiki M, Namera A. Traumatic avulsion fracture of the occipital condyles and clivus: a case report. Legal Med 2000;2(1):49-53.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

An Unexpected Result of Increased Cosmetic Anxiety: Botulinum Toxin Side Effect

Gözde Yılmaz Dursun¹, Haticenur Karakartal¹, Rukiye Aytekin Akdağ¹, Karakaran Baykan¹, Karakartal¹, ¹Department of Emergency Medicine, Kayseri City Hospital, Kayseri, Türkiye

Abstract

Botulinum toxin inhibits acetylcholine release at the neuromuscular junction, thereby reducing muscle contraction. Although it was initially used therapeutically to treat strabismus, its clinical role has expanded rapidly over the years and its range of use has expanded to include the treatment of various musculoskeletal, neurological disorders and dermatologic and cosmetic areas. A previously healthy 34-year-old woman presented to the emergency department with complaints of diplopia, slurred speech and generalized muscle weakness that started about 4 hours ago. The patient's medical history is negative for any surgical interventions. It was learned that the patient had her 4th botox procedure 6 days ago for wrinkles on the glabella, nasal tip and around the eyes. Following a 12-day inpatient stay, the patient was discharged to outpatient care as their symptoms improved. Treatment of side effects of botulinum toxin primarily involves administration of botulinum antidote, close neurologic and respiratory monitoring and supportive care. This case report presents a unique instance of systemic manifestations following facial botulinum toxin administration, diverging from the predominantly reported localized adverse effects in existing literature, thereby highlighting a potentially underrecognized spectrum of clinical presentations.

Keywords: Botulinum, deglutition disorders, diplopia

Introduction

The bacterium Clostridium botulinum produces botulinum neurotoxin (BoNT), the world's most powerful poison. BoNT blocks acetylcholine release at nerve terminals. This interrupts the communication from the nerve to the muscle fiber and reduces muscle contraction. Since its Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval in 1989, BoNT has been used in many different areas beyond the conditions for which it was initially approved, such as facial movement disorders and strabismus (1). The most frequently reported adverse effects are local effects such as erythema, edema, bruising and are self-limiting. Serious side effects such as muscle weakness and allergic reactions may also be observed but are very rare. The incidence of complications increases in a dose-dependent manner. Complications are approximately 33 times more likely to occur in therapeutic cases compared to cosmetic cases (2). Reasons for side effects include the use of elevated doses of toxin than recommended or the use of unlicensed products (3). Treatment of botulinum toxin side effects primarily includes administration of botulinum antidote, close neurologic and respiratory monitoring and supportive care. Individuals suspected of having botulism should be hospitalized in the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) for close monitoring of their vital signs and rapid assessment

of their need for antitoxin treatment. The most important step of treatment is antitoxin administration and the earlier it is administered, the better the clinical response (2). As an anticholinesterase agent, pyridostigmine prolongs the action of acetylcholine by inhibiting acetylcholinesterase at synaptic sites, thus improving muscle strength in conditions characterized by impaired neuromuscular transmission (4). A retrospective review of patients experiencing significant adverse events, including dysphagia and dyspnea, after head and neck botulinum toxin injections demonstrated that pyridostigmine was well-tolerated and resulted in notable symptom improvement, indicating its potential in modulating more widespread effects (5). The purpose of this case report is to emphasize side effects of botulinum toxin, the use of which is increasing especially in the cosmetic field today, and its systemic effects and treatment process besides its local effects in the application area.

Case Report

A previously healthy 34-year-old woman presented to the emergency department with complaints of diplopia, slurred speech and generalized muscle weakness that started about 4 hours ago. The patient's medical history is negative for any surgical interventions. During the medical history taking,

Corresponding Author: Gözde Yılmaz Dursun e-mail: beau_gozde@hotmail.com Received: 02.02.2025 • Revision: 02.05.2025 • Accepted: 07.05.2025 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1631738 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey -Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Yılmaz Dursun G, Haticenur Karakartal, Aytekin Akdağ R, Baykan N, Salt Ö. An Unexpected Result of Increased Cosmetic Anxiety: Botulinum Toxin Side Effect. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2025;16(2): 80-82



Figure 1. No pathological findings in patient's MRI

it was learned that she underwent botox procedure 6 days ago for wrinkles on glabella, tip of the nose and around the eyes. It was stated that this was the patient's fourth botox procedure. The patient's blood pressure was 117/76 mmHg, pulse rate: 96/min, saturation: 99%, temperature: 36.6 oC. No pathologic findings were detected on electrocardiogram (ECG). To comprehensively evaluate the patient's atypical presentation of systemic neurological symptoms following botulinum toxin administration, and to rigorously exclude alternative etiologies encompassing autoimmune neuromuscular disorders such as Myasthenia Gravis and inflammatory polyradiculopathies like Guillain-Barré syndrome, as well as acute cerebrovascular events including ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke, a thorough neuroimaging workup, including computed tomography (CT) and/or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (Figure-1) of the central nervous system, was promptly undertaken. Cranial imaging and blood tests were ordered to exclude a differential diagnosis; no pathology was found in these tests. The patient was consulted to a neurologist with a prediagnosis of BoNT side effect. Botulinum antidote was administered. Symptomatic supportive treatment was started. The patient was transferred to the ICU. 4*60 mg pyridostigmine was added to the intensive care unit treatment. On the second day of intensive care unit follow-up, dysphagia developed with progression in speech disorder. The patient's nutritional support continued with nasogastric tube. The intensive care period continued for 5 days and swallowing function improved. After the swallowing function improved, ward follow-up was initiated. After the patient's dysphagia and diplopia were completely resolved and his speech disorder improved to a great extent, he was discharged after 7 days of ward follow-up and was discharged to outpatient care.

Discussion

The occurrence of pronounced systemic bulbar symptoms, specifically progressive dysphagia and diplopia, after routine facial botulinum toxin administration, as presented in this previously healthy 34-year-old woman, represents a rare observation in contrast to the prevailing literature focused on localized effects. The subsequent positive response to pyridostigmine therapy suggests a crucial role for cholinergic modulation in managing these less common systemic manifestations.

While local adverse events following cosmetic botulinum toxin administrations are commonly reported, systemic adverse events are considered rare. However, a recent systematic review (6) indicates the potential for systemic symptoms such as fatigue and muscle weakness. In rare instances, distant spread of the toxin has been associated with severe systemic effects, including dysphagia (7). This case report presents a novel instance of an unusual systemic reaction within the existing literature.

BoNT is a neurotoxic protein; it causes flaccid paralysis by inhibiting the release of acetylcholine neurotransmitter from axon terminals. Botulinum inhibits the exocytosis of acetylcholine (ACH) in the cholinergic nerve endings of motor nerves, preventing it from binding to the membrane where the neurotransmitter can be released in the vesicle where acetylcholine is stored. BoNT exerts this effect through endopeptidase activity against SNARE (Soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor Attachment protein REceptor) proteins (the protein required for ACH vesicle binding to the presynaptic membrane). The presence of acetylcholine stores in the synaptic cleft acts as a buffer that delays the effects of neurotoxins and therefore toxicity may take 24-48 hours to occur. In our case, toxicity symptoms appeared on the 6th day. The paralytic effect of neurotoxin continues until the axonal regeneration process required for the repair of damage to the neuromuscular junction is completed, and this period is generally estimated to be between 2-6 months (8, 9). In the case we presented, recovery was observed in a period of approximately 2 weeks from the onset of toxicity findings. This was probably because we started antidote treatment early after the toxicity findings were observed. Although it was initially used therapeutically to treat strabismus, its clinical role has expanded rapidly over the years and its range of use has expanded to include the treatment of various head, neck, gastrointestinal, urogenital, musculoskeletal, neurologic disorders and dermatologic and cosmetic areas (2). In the present case, it was detected that BoNT was used for cosmetic purposes rather than therapeutic purposes. According to the literature, our case is an example of the less expected side effects of Botox in cosmetic use compared to its therapeutic use. Botulinum toxin administration has demonstrated a favorable safety profile and high patient satisfaction rates. Pain, edema, erythema, ecchymosis and short-term hyperesthesia may be observed after botulinum toxin injection. These are general local side effects that may also occur after other drug injections (2). The most common complication of botulinum toxin administered to the glabella region is ptosis of the upper eyelid (blepharoptosis). The most prevalent side effects of BoNT injections in the lateral periorbital region are diplopia, transient strabismus, ectropion, lagopthalmus and xerophthalmia (2). The same side effects were observed in our case in accordance with the literature. Hoarseness, dysphagia and neck weakness may occur after BoNT injection. Dysphagia, xerostomia, neck weakness and dysarthria may occur as a result of high doses of botulinum toxin or its administration into deeper muscles. In a study, it was reported that dysphagia and odynophagia occurred in a significant proportion of patients with cervical dystonia who received BoNT injection (10). These side effects are more common in elderly patients. The reason is that higher doses of toxin are required in elderly patients and the toxin diffuses easily into the deeper muscles of the neck because of the decreased soft tissue in the neck. These complications take at least 3-4 weeks to heal and are very rare (10). In our case, these side effects were observed in a young patient and healed in a time compatible with the literature data.

Conclusion

This case report presents a unique instance of systemic manifestations following facial botulinum toxin administration, diverging from the predominantly reported localized adverse effects in existing literature, thereby highlighting a potentially underrecognized spectrum of clinical presentations.

References

- Anandan C, Jankovic J. Botulinum toxin treatment in parkinsonism. J Neurol Sci. 2023 Jan 15;456:122810. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2023.122810.
- Bach K, Simman R. The multispecialty toxin: a literature review of botulinum toxin. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open. 2022 Apr;10(4):e4228. doi: 10.1097/GOX.000000000004228.
- Eser F, et al. latrogenic botulism cases after gastric and axillary application of botulinum toxin and review of literature. J Infect Dev Ctries. 2024 Mar 31;18(3):480-7. doi: 10.3855/ jidc.18868.
- Ohno K, Engel AG. Congenital myasthenic syndromes. Brain. 2008 Dec;131(Pt 12):3173-224. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn264.
- Patel BC, Holds JB, Anderson RL. Pyridostigmine for reversal of severe sequelae from botulinum toxin injection. Ophthal Plast Reconstr Surg. 2014 Jan;30(1):e1-3. doi: 10.1097/ IOP.0b013e3182a2521f.
- **6.** Meretsky CR, Umali JP, Schiuma AT. A Systematic Review and Comparative Analysis of Botox Treatment in Aesthetic and Therapeutic Applications: Advantages, Disadvantages, and Patient Outcomes. Cureus. 2024 Aug;16(8):e64485. doi: 10.7759/cureus.64485.
- Dawson EF, et al. From Botox Party to Botulism: A Case Report and Public Health Warning on Adulterated Botulinum Toxin Injection. Cureus. 2024 Aug;16(8):e64887. doi: 10.7759/ cureus.64887.
- **8.** Sekertzi S. Clinical therapeutic applications of botulinum toxin in dentistry. Dent Med J-Rev. 2022 Sep 30;4(3):205-16
- **9.** Sheen D, Clarkson E. Botox and dermal fillers: Review and its role in the dental office. Dent Clin North Am. 2020 Apr;64(2):325-39. doi: 10.1016/j.cden.2019.12.002.
- Kroumpouzos G, et al. Complications of botulinum toxin A: An update review. J Cosmet Dermatol. 2021 Jun;20(6):1585-90. doi: 10.1111/jocd.14160.

Declaration of Helsinki

This study was conducted in accordance with the principles outlined in the World Medical Association's (WMA) Declaration of Helsinki - Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects.

Written informed consent to publish this case report (including all clinical information and any related images) was obtained from the patient.